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          1  COMMITTEE ON CONSUMER AFFAIRS

          2                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Welcome to this

          3  hearing of Consumer Affairs Committee. I'm Philip

          4  Reed, Chair of the Committee and joining me today

          5  are my colleagues, Charles Barron from Brooklyn, and

          6  Joseph Addabbo from Queens, John Liu also from

          7  Queens, and at this end over here, Oliver Koppell

          8  from the Bronx. I know that Council Members Sanders

          9  and Davis are both in the vicinity of the building

         10  and they should be joining us shortly.

         11                 This afternoon we will be looking at

         12  two pieces of legislation designed to help consumers

         13  work with professional tax preparers. As many of you

         14  know, there has been a great deal of attention

         15  focused on tax preparers in our city and around the

         16  nation. Some preparers have been accused of

         17  misleading the public by not fully disclosing all

         18  the costs related to their services. Such practices

         19  have, in some instances, created enormous fees and

         20  growing debt for lower and middle income taxpayers.

         21                 This is a significant concern for

         22  those of us here today. Perhaps the most contentious

         23  issue has been tax preparers marketing of "Refund

         24  Anticipation Loans." Refund anticipation loans

         25  better known as "RALs", are loans taken by the
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          2  taxpayer against his or her anticipated tax return.

          3  The taxpayer is legally obligated to pay all cost

          4  and fees related to the loan, regardless of the tax

          5  refund he or she ultimately receives from the IRS.

          6                 However, RALs are often marketed as a

          7  type of fast money or instant return. So consumers

          8  are often unaware until it is too late and they have

          9  actually entered into a high interest loan. They are

         10  left without the full refund while -- they are left

         11  without the full refund they were anticipating and

         12  with debts that they may not be able to pay off.

         13  This is especially significant for those taxpayers

         14  who received the earned income tax credit, a federal

         15  benefit available to qualifying low-income workers.

         16                 I might add that the state also has

         17  an earned income tax credit and we are trying to get

         18  the city to have one. A roughly 40 percent of the

         19  recipients of RALs also receive the earned income

         20  tax credit or "EITC." These are rarely families that

         21  have alot of extra cash -- thank you -- lying

         22  around. These consumers are rarely in a position to

         23  repay their RALs and lined up subject to late fees,

         24  debt collection, and a lower credit rating or worse.

         25                 RALs also consume prejudicious
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          2  amounts of earned income tax dollars through the

          3  imposition of various fees to the consumer. The

          4  depletion of the taxpayers funded earned income tax

          5  credit program reached nearly $1 billion dollars in

          6  1999-2000.

          7                 The Council has been working with the

          8  community groups to educate the public about these

          9  matters and the administration has also organizing

         10  on this issue. None of us as elected officials want

         11  to see our constituents lose money that they

         12  deserve.

         13                 The bill that we are looking today

         14  are designed to solve some of these problems and

         15  better educate consumers during tax season. The

         16  first and the primary bill is Intro 383, which you

         17  will now see as 383-A, creates an extensive list of

         18  disclosure requirements for tax preparers entering

         19  into RALs with consumers.

         20                 Among other things, a legislation

         21  requires that a tax preparer to clearly inform the

         22  consumer that he or she is actually taking out a

         23  loan and the cost of doing so.

         24                 The bill also requires tax preparers

         25  to let consumers know how quickly they will get
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          2  their loan proceeds through the RAL versus how

          3  quickly they can get their full refund through

          4  electronic filing or direct deposit.

          5                 All of these disclosures must be made

          6  to the consumer before he or she agrees to enter

          7  into a RAL.

          8                 The second bill adds disclosure

          9  requirement to the consumer bill of rights which is

         10  a flyer the DCA distributes -- the Department of

         11  Consumer Affairs, distributes to tax preparers each

         12  year. They are given to the tax preparers and should

         13  be given out to the public.

         14                 Under this legislation, the flyer

         15  would better inform consumers of their rights when

         16  dealing with tax preparers.

         17                 We have invited a variety of

         18  witnesses, including the Department of Consumer

         19  Affairs and several large-tax preparers to testify

         20  on this matter.

         21                 The secondary bill 391 is just that.

         22  It is secondary. We will be taking testimony on both

         23  and hopefully next week we will be voting on the

         24  first bill. At least that is the schedule of this

         25  hearing.
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          2                 So, if there is anyone here who wants

          3  to testify and has not signed the -- the situation

          4  here -- everyone who wants to speak has signed in?

          5  Okay. Then we will hear first from the

          6  Administration.

          7                 Yes, sir. Yes. Ma'am.

          8                 MS. KASSAPIAN: Good afternoon,

          9  Chairman Reed, and members of the Consumer Affairs

         10  Committee. I am Susan Kassapian, General Council of

         11  the Department of Consumers Affairs. I am joined by

         12  Andy Eiler, the Department's Legislative Director.

         13  We thank you for the opportunity to appear before

         14  you, to comment on Intro 383, which would require

         15  disclosures for refund anticipation loans and Intro

         16  391, which would revise the contents of the

         17  Consumers Bill of Rights regarding tax preparers.

         18                 Let me first tell you that

         19  Commissioner Dykstra commends the sponsors for

         20  proposing these bills and this committee for giving

         21  them prompt attention. It should not, then, be

         22  surprising that the Department and the

         23  Administration also support the enactment of these

         24  measures, but with some strengthening amendments

         25  that I will mention later. Before delving into the
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          2  particulars of the legislation, some historic

          3  prospective about DCA's involvement which refund

          4  anticipation loans may put in clearer focus, both

          5  the need for the bills you are considering and the

          6  strengthening amendments I will describe.

          7                 Almost every year since 1990, the DCA

          8  has taken actions against the deceptive packaging

          9  tax preparers use to promote a service that has been

         10  variously described as "superfast" or "rapid refund"

         11  or "instant money." Last year, the Department of

         12  Consumers Affairs achieved a settlement with one

         13  company that called for the payment of up to $2.7

         14  million dollars in restitution to consumers,

         15  $725,000 in fines and costs, $345,000 to support the

         16  City's Earned Income Tax Credit campaign, and

         17  $475,000 to produce their own accurate EITC

         18  materials for distribution to their consumers. The

         19  company also entered into a three- year injunction

         20  and agreed to pay an independent monitor to oversee

         21  its compliance with the terms of the agreement.

         22                 What we now call "refund anticipation

         23  loans" or "RALs" first came to DCA's attention

         24  during the 1990 tax season when these loans were

         25  being advertised as "Rapid Refunds." These
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          2  advertisements made it appear that the taxpayers

          3  could obtain rapid tax refunds in three to four days

          4  by using the tax preparers services.

          5                 In fact, the consumer actually

          6  received the proceeds of a high interest loan which

          7  was to be re- paid from the anticipated tax refund.

          8  Consumers, therefore, were not receiving a rapid

          9  refund; they instead received an extremely high-

         10  cost quickie loan.

         11                 Similar products have since appeared

         12  in various packaging that disguise the quickie loan

         13  as a tax refund the taxpayer expected from the

         14  government, but would receive faster if he or she

         15  used the services of the tax preparer.

         16                 The programs continued to disguise

         17  that the consumer was actually entering into a very

         18  high interest loan (at annual percentage rates

         19  exceeding 600 percent). The loan is coupled to a

         20  very high fee checking account used to receive the

         21  tax refund and funnel it to the lender to repay the

         22  loan, the interest charges and bank fees, and to pay

         23  the tax preparer its tax preparation fees and other

         24  service charges.

         25                 Consumers rarely understand the
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          2  complicated arrangement they agree to in order to

          3  get their alleged rapid refund. Even fewer realize

          4  how much the loan cost and related fees reduce the

          5  tax refund they expect from the government. We have

          6  pursued the deceptive promotion of these refund

          7  anticipation loans as violations of the City's

          8  Consumers Protection Law. That law, however, only

          9  enables DCA to pursue these practices in lengthy

         10  lawsuits after the deceptive acts takes place.

         11                 The two bills you are considering

         12  would, on the other hand, require tax preparers to

         13  make affirmative disclosures that will enable

         14  consumers to better understand and decide whether

         15  they really wish to pay the high cost of the

         16  services being provided under various refund

         17  anticipation loan programs.

         18                 The Department and the administration

         19  strongly support these bills as a welcome addition

         20  to DCA's ongoing efforts to protect taxpayers from

         21  RAL rip offs. We also urge that these bills be

         22  strengthened by adding requirements that I summarize

         23  below.

         24                 Broadly speaking, Intro 383 would

         25  require tax preparers to make certain transactions
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          2  specific cost disclosures about a RAL being offered

          3  to taxpayers. Intro 383 essentially enacts into law

          4  key terms of the settlement DCA reached with a major

          5  tax preparer last year. As written, Intro 383 would

          6  require tax preparers to make the transactions

          7  specific disclosure before RAL terms, before a tax

          8  preparer provides tax preparation services. A tax

          9  preparer cannot, however, make the required

         10  transaction specific disclosures until after the tax

         11  return is prepared. Although, a consumer could still

         12  walk away after receiving this information, it is

         13  likely that consumers will feel an obligation to

         14  continue. This information will be most useful if it

         15  is provided as a second step disclosure. We suggest

         16  that the timing of the disclosures and their

         17  contents should be made a two step process that

         18  would require disclosures at each step.

         19                 Step one would be the per- tax

         20  preparation disclosures about non- loan products and

         21  disclosures about RALs in a form approved by the

         22  Commissioner. Tax preparers should be required to

         23  distribute a statement that describes both the less

         24  expensive non- loan products, as well as describing

         25  its loan products. The statements should include:
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          2  Generic disclosures about the cost, nature,

          3  conditions, and purpose of their refund anticipation

          4  loan products before they provide any tax

          5  preparation services. Disclosures of how the RAL is

          6  linked to tax preparation services. Disclosures of

          7  the amount being financed includes the tax

          8  preparation fee, the electronic filing fee, the bank

          9  fee, and any other products or services purchased.

         10  An itemized list that identifies the cost of all

         11  services that are part of any RAL transaction. A

         12  comparison of the costs and time frames of the

         13  various non- loan and loan products offered.

         14  Currently, for example, many consumers pay quite a

         15  premium for a one- day loan, rather than a two- day

         16  loan without understanding how much more they are

         17  paying for that extra day.

         18                 Step two would be the per- RAL

         19  disclosures. The step two per- RAL disclosures would

         20  be information described in Intro 383 including the

         21  consumer signature requirement. In addition, to the

         22  transaction specific disclosures required in the

         23  bill, step two should also include the disclosure of

         24  an itemized list of all cost and fees incurred in

         25  connection with the RAL transaction including
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          2  associated fees such as fees for setting up the

          3  checking account, into which the refund is deposited

          4  and the calculation of the annual percentage rate

          5  based on the entire loan amount to the consumer. Not

          6  just the amount of the anticipated refund.

          7                 Finally, I note the bill provides a

          8  private cause of action to consumers damaged by

          9  violations. This belt and suspenders approach adopts

         10  in local law the guarantees in state law.

         11                 Turning now into Intro 391, which

         12  would require that specific information about RALs

         13  be included to the Consumer Bill of Rights regarding

         14  tax preparers that the Department produces and

         15  publishes each year as required by law. The RAL

         16  disclosures this bill would add to the Bill of

         17  Rights soundly complement the disclosures that would

         18  be mandated by Intro 383.

         19                 The law now exempts several

         20  professions from complying with the requirement to

         21  furnish consumers with the Consumer Bill of Rights

         22  regarding tax preparers. These professionals include

         23  certified public accountants, agents enrolled with

         24  the IRS, attorneys and their employees, and public

         25  accountants and employees.
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          2                 The DCA recently concluded an

          3  enforcement action to determine the compliance rate

          4  of distributing the tax preparer Bill of Rights.

          5  Despite the legal requirement, we found that one-

          6  half of the tax preparers required to distribute the

          7  document, do not. Further, inspectors note that many

          8  business offer tax services during the season such

          9  as neighborhood base law or accountants offices. We

         10  recommend that the existing exemption for

         11  distributing the Bill of Rights be eliminated.

         12                 We believe these modifications would

         13  strengthen the proposals you are considering. DCA

         14  would be pleased to cooperate with your committee

         15  and your staff to incorporate these proposals into

         16  the bills before you.

         17                 Thank you again for the opportunity

         18  to comment on these bills. I will be pleased to

         19  answer any questions you have.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Thank you very

         21  much. Mr. Eiler. Do you have anything to add or are

         22  you just here offering support?

         23                 MR. EILER: I'm just here.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Thank you very much

         25  for your testimony. You talked about the fees for
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          2  setting up the loan?

          3                 MS. KASSAPIAN: Yes.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Could you sorta of

          5  walk us through an example of what you are talking

          6  about?

          7                 MS. KASSAPIAN:: Well, essentially,

          8  when the RAL account is created, the consumer pays

          9  approximately $25.00 for the account itself, which

         10  is only going to last for approximately 11 days.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON REED: So I walk in and I

         12  want to have my taxes done. It says I am going to

         13  get $1,500.00 back. Right?

         14                 MS. KASSAPIAN: Right

         15                 CHAIRPERSON REED: You've done this.

         16  You've figured it out. You are going to get

         17  $1,500.00 back. So then what happens next?

         18                 MS. KASSAPIAN: Well, assuming that

         19  the consumer wants it fast which is the way

         20  advertisings  --

         21                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Right.

         22                 MS. KASSAPIAN: Advertisements have

         23  sort of steered consumers and they want it in one

         24  day or in two days. The instant money, for example,

         25  is a one- day product. An account -- an application
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          2  for the loan is signed by the consumer. An account

          3  is set up...

          4                 CHAIRPERSON REED: An account is set

          5  up in the bank?

          6                 MS. KASSAPIAN: Yes.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON REED: What bank is this?

          8                 MS. KASSAPIAN: Well, the various tax

          9  preparers have various associated banks.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON REED: So the bank -- they

         11  have already worked out an arrangement -- the

         12  preparer has already worked out an arrangement with

         13  a bank...

         14                 MS. KASSAPIAN: Correct.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON REED: ...to accept these?

         16                 MS. KASSAPIAN: Yes.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Okay. Go ahead.

         18                 MS. KASSAPIAN: And, for example, in a

         19  one- day loan, within an hour the consumer can

         20  actually walk out with a check. But that is after a

         21  calculation has been made as to all of the fees that

         22  are going to go into the loan and the financing and

         23  the interest and all of that. So they come out with

         24  hundreds of dollars less than what they would get if

         25  they, for example, did a direct deposit --
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          2  electronically -- if the tax preparer filed the

          3  taxes with the IRS, a consumer would get the money

          4  in their own bank account in 14 days. And they

          5  wouldn't be paying all the additional fees.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Excuse me. I'm

          7  sorry.

          8                 MS. KASSAPIAN: So essentially for the

          9  convenience, you might say, of getting the money

         10  without any wait time, the consumers are paying a

         11  very significant premium.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON REED: So you said --

         13  okay, I'm signed, I'm going to do this. It cost me

         14  $25.00 to set up the account?

         15                 MS. KASSAPIAN: Yes. In most cases.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON REED: That's a flat fee?

         17                 MS. KASSAPIAN: I believe so.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Okay. The bank --

         19  then they just automatically send this over to the

         20  bank. You have to give them some  --

         21                 MS. KASSAPIAN: The money is advanced

         22  to the consumers based on the tax preparers

         23  preparation of the return. They know what the tax

         24  preparer is going to get.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON REED: I understand that.
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          2  I understand that. They don't have to give you any

          3  credit history because the assumption is that you

          4  are going to have this money back -- everything is

          5  fine.

          6                 MS. KASSAPIAN: I believe that they do

          7  do credit histories and not everyone is eligible,

          8  for example, for the one- day loan.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON REED: That is what I am

         10  trying to get to. Or the two- day loan for that

         11  matter.

         12                 MS. KASSAPIAN: Some people are not

         13  eligible at all for the RALs.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON REED: So under normal

         15  circumstances, they wouldn't be eligible for a loan?

         16                 MS. KASSAPIAN: I don't know that

         17  that's  --

         18                 CHAIRPERSON REED: You don't know

         19  that?

         20                 MS. KASSAPIAN: No, I don't know..

         21                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Okay. That's fair

         22  enough. So what other charges are added on to this

         23  beside the $25.00?

         24                 MS. KASSAPIAN: What is being financed

         25  is the tax preparers fee because the tax preparer
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          2  doesn't pay it up front. It becomes part of the

          3  loan. Also, the bank fees, the application fees. If

          4  a consumer purchases  --

          5                 CHAIRPERSON REED: The application

          6  fee? Application for the loan?

          7                 MS. KASSAPIAN: I believe so.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON REED: That's not the

          9  $25.00?

         10                 MS. KASSAPIAN: I think it is

         11  separate. But I'm sure if I am incorrect about that

         12   --

         13                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Well, you said, you

         14  sent investigators over there, so I am just trying

         15  to  --

         16                 MS. KASSAPIAN: Right. The

         17  investigators...

         18                 CHAIRPERSON REED: You have implied

         19  there's a lot of different steps in here. So  --

         20                 MS. KASSAPIAN: There are. The

         21  investigations that we have done in the past were

         22  telephone conversations to the various companies to

         23  see if they were immediately steering us to the loan

         24  product when we weren't asking for it. And we

         25  actually had some investigators do a full return to
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          2  see again, if we were being steered to the products.

          3  So we're really taking exception to the deceptive

          4  marketing of the product. But there is an

          5  application and there is an itemization of what's

          6  being charged. The problem is that you don't really

          7  understand the hidden cost of the financing of the

          8  product.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Okay. So let's go

         10  with this and the $1,500.00 and they are going to

         11  charge $25.00 and then some accounting fees and the

         12  tax preparation fee. So I get my refund in two

         13  weeks. Then I walk over there and pay them.

         14                 MS. KASSAPIAN: No, you don't pay

         15  them. The IRS electronically deposits the money into

         16  the bank's account. So the bank takes it fee and the

         17  tax preparer takes its fee right out of that

         18  account. And the consumer has already gotten their

         19  check within the first two or three days.

         20                 MR. EILER: If I can  --

         21                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Identify yourself,

         22  please, Mr. Eiler.

         23                 MR. EILER: Andrew Eiler, Consumer

         24  Affairs Department, Legislative Director. What

         25  actually happens in these things is basically the
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          2  refund anticipation loan is simply -- the refund is

          3  the collateral for the loan. What they do is they

          4  set up the loan -- they set up the checking account

          5  into which the direct deposit from the IRS is made.

          6                 Then what the consumer signs is an

          7  agreement to disperse the funds from the checking

          8  account as directed by the consumer and those funds

          9  are then channeled to the bank to repay the loan, to

         10  repay the finance charges, and to the tax preparer

         11  to pay for the tax preparations fees and any other

         12  associated costs that were a part of the tax

         13  preparation services. Along with all the other fees

         14  that have been added for preparing or creating the

         15  deposit account and for making a loan application

         16  and so forth and so on.

         17                 So all of those fees are essentially

         18  calculated and deducted -- or the calculations is

         19  made to reduce the loan amount that the consumer

         20  receives to reflect so that effectively equals the

         21  loan plus all the fees plus the tax preparation...

         22                 CHAIRPERSON REED: You've made that

         23  part clear. What I'm and perhaps others on this

         24  panel are unclear about, but I'm unclear -- this

         25  checking account, you've set that up, it's in my
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          2  name. I'm the consumer. Right?

          3                 MR. EILER: Right.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON REED: And when I sign off

          5  on the tax going to the IRS, I'm telling them to

          6  make an automatic deposit to that account.

          7                 MR. EILER: Correct.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Right?

          9                 MR. EILER: Correct.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON REED: So then in two

         11  weeks I do get this $1,500.00...

         12                 MR. EILER: No, no...

         13                 MS. KASSAPIAN: That's not when you

         14  get it. If you do a RAL, you get it --

         15                 CHAIRPERSON REED: No, I know. But I'm

         16  saying the IRS then sends all that money to the

         17  bank. Right?

         18                 MS. KASSAPIAN: Right.

         19                 MR. EILER: Right.

         20                 MS. KASSAPIAN: But not to the

         21  taxpayer.

         22                 MR. EILER: The taxpayer never sees --

         23  the taxpayer -- the loan that the consumer gets is

         24  in effect drawing the -- getting an advance against

         25  the refund that the IRS will deposit. So that's the
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          2  loan the consumer gets. And the consumers -- and

          3  that loan is then repaid when the check from the IRS

          4  or actually the deposit is made by the IRS. They

          5  simply don't give it to the consumer. They just give

          6  it to the bank.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON REED: I understand that.

          8                 MR. EILER: So the consumer gets the

          9  refund instantly in the sense of a loan.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON REED: I understand that.

         11  So then what is left for the consumer to pay? That's

         12  what I'm trying -- if the IRS is now giving the bank

         13  that you opened this account and put that money in

         14  there  --

         15                 MR. EILER: Nothing. The consumer is

         16  finished.

         17                 MS. KASSAPIAN: In most cases, there

         18  would be nothing else for the consumer to pay,

         19  unless, for some reason there was an error in the

         20  tax return or the consumer wasn't eligible for that

         21  full amount of the estimated return...

         22                 CHAIRPERSON REED: That's what I'm

         23  trying to get at here.

         24                 MS. KASSAPIAN: And then the consumer

         25  would be responsible to pay the difference. Unless

                                                            24

          1  COMMITTEE ON CONSUMER AFFAIRS

          2  they have taken out additional insurance which I

          3  think you can take out with the tax preparer to pay

          4  the difference.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Correct. Council

          6  Member Koppell has questions and then Council Member

          7  Liu and I see that we have been joined by Donna

          8  Reyna from Brooklyn and Council Member -- Oh, I'm

          9  sorry, and Council Member Sanders is behind Oliver.

         10  I can't see all the way around. Council Member

         11  Koppell.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Thank you.

         13  First of all, who did you make the settlement with?

         14  What was the name of the company?

         15                 MS. KASSAPIAN: H&R Block.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: It is really

         17  quite shocking to hear a company that you think of a

         18  reputable company doing things like this, to tell

         19  you the truth. But what I was wondering, is how do

         20  they get away with charging 600 percent interest

         21  when we have a statute in New York that says that

         22  interest -- regular interest is only suppose to be

         23  at 16 percent. But criminal usury starts at 24, 25

         24  percent. So how is it that they can do this without

         25  being prosecuted?
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          2                 MS. KASSAPIAN: The reason is that the

          3  banks that they use are out of state banks. And the

          4  Supreme Court has said that the laws of the state in

          5  which the lending institution resides is the

          6  controlling law. And these banks, for example, may

          7  be situated in Delaware or states that don't have

          8  usury law.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: They have no

         10  usury law?

         11                 MS. KASSAPIAN: No.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: In those

         13  states. There is no way that we can deal with the

         14  issue of interest rates?

         15                 MS. KASSAPIAN: I think we would be

         16  violating the interest commerce clause.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: I know. I

         18  dealt with this issue and had to contend with it in

         19  Albany, but I didn't realize that it reached the

         20  criminal usury statute. I know it reached the civil

         21  usury statute. It is simple shocking. And, Mr.

         22  Chairman, I frankly would recommend that the amount

         23  of interest to the extent that we can regulate

         24  disclosure, that that should be extra large, really

         25  big, telling people what kind of interest they are
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          2  paying. Because it is simply unconscionable to

          3  charge -- these are the most modest taxpayers, I'm

          4  sure, that you deal with this. And for them to pay

          5  hundreds of percent in interest, it is just

          6  unconscionable. And the only thing I can think of

          7  because we can't regulate the interest rate, would

          8  be to have it knowing big type, an inch high type,

          9  you are being charged interest at blank percent.

         10  Maybe that would dissuade people.

         11                 MS. KASSAPIAN: Can I just say that

         12  actually wouldn't cure the whole problem because

         13  some of the preparers are now recalculating the way

         14  they do the APR. So that the APR is only on the loan

         15  amount and they have gotten legal interpretations

         16  that say for truth and lending purposes, they don't

         17  have to include everything else in terms of

         18  calculating the APR. So, it is almost -- I think

         19  this year, it won't reach 600 percent because the

         20  calculation is going to be done somewhat

         21  differently. But I do think that it is important

         22  that it be highlighted and that it is a very high

         23  interest rate. But most important, that all the

         24  other things that are in the loan are being financed

         25  as well.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: I do

          3  understand and all I can say, Mr. Chairman, -- and I

          4  would be happy to sit down with Council, but I think

          5  that disclosure has got to be much more prominent.

          6  Because I don't think people have the slightest idea

          7  what they are getting into and I think particularly

          8  significant are the comments that indicate that you

          9  can basically get the money, in what, two weeks from

         10  the IRS without any of this? These charges? And

         11  people are being suckered into -- because they get

         12  the money the day that they are there or the next

         13  day there incurring all of these fees that are

         14  completely unnecessary. Most people don't need the

         15  money the very same day. They would be delighted to

         16  know that they are going to get it within two weeks.

         17  Is it two weeks that the IRS promises?

         18                 MS. KASSAPIAN: Direct deposit

         19  normally takes two weeks because the IRS is getting

         20  the return the same day and it takes approximately

         21  two weeks to get it back. Some people get it in ten

         22  days.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: So the return

         24  is filed electronically and the taxpayer can arrange

         25  to have it deposited in their bank.
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          2                 MS. KASSAPIAN: Electronically.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: What if they

          4  don't have a bank?

          5                 MS. KASSAPIAN: Then it would be an

          6  IRS check that gets mailed to them. It is still less

          7  than if you were mailing the return and getting it

          8  back by mail. So that takes about four weeks.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: But if you do

         10  use a tax preparer, don't they file it

         11  electronically?

         12                 MS. KASSAPIAN: I believe all the tax

         13  preparers do.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: So the  way

         15  one is quick. It is just return mail that might take

         16  a few days.

         17                 MS. KASSAPIAN: Correct.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: And frankly,

         19  I use mail constantly, as we all do, and it goes in

         20  a day or two. You get a letter, local letter. Thank

         21  you, Mr. Chairman, I think there is very useful --

         22  to do something here.

         23                 MR. EILER: If I might add, that one

         24  of the things is that one of the reasons people get

         25  involved in these things is because that's the
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          2  reason it is important to make a comparison between

          3  the non- loan and the loan options is that -- the

          4  tax preparer wants to ensure the payment of the fees

          5  and many consumers are unable to pay the fees in

          6  advance. So, therefore, they pay it out of the

          7  deposit -- out of the refund.

          8                 In that case, they want to make sure

          9   -- that is what the direct deposit is set up for so

         10  that the tax preparer insures that the refund -- the

         11  tax fees will come to him and once the consumer sets

         12  the account up for paying the fee, then they might

         13  as well take the loan. So the two of them are tied

         14  together in that sense. Consumers ought to be made

         15  aware of that.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Council Member Liu.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: Thank you, Mr.

         18  Chairman. I commend you for having hearings on these

         19  very important bills. Actually Council Member

         20  Koppell has already asked some terrific questions

         21  that I was hoping to ask. But I have already gotten

         22  the information there. My only question remains that

         23  in your opinion, do people who engage in these

         24  practices have more of an incentive to produce a

         25  less than completely accurate return?
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          2                 MS. KASSAPIAN: I would have no

          3  information on that. I don't really think so, but...

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: I think that

          5  where I'm coming from, I think that the laws and

          6  regulations are already somewhat weak on what

          7  happens to a tax preparer if the return that that

          8  preparer puts together is not completely accurate.

          9  Whether it overstates the amount of tax due or

         10  understates. I think that there is very little --

         11  very little that encourages the tax preparer to be

         12  100 percent accurate. And so it seems to me that

         13  with these kinds of refund anticipation loans being

         14  given, there is somewhat of an incentive to

         15  potentially inflate the amount that's expected to be

         16  refunded to the taxpayer. Do you think that's a

         17  crazy idea or do you think that may actually happen?

         18  That incentive exists?

         19                 MS. KASSAPIAN: I just don't have any

         20  basis to form an opinion.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: Conversely, since

         22  many of the tax preparers are getting dollar amounts

         23  of fees, not necessarily related to the amount of

         24  the refunds, they may actually be underestimating

         25  the refund to make sure that the bank institution
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          2  gets the full amount at the very least as opposed to

          3  possibly taking a loss or possibly have to go after

          4  the consumer for the difference. I just have a

          5  feeling that these kinds of practices encourage one

          6  way or another a less than complete and accurate tax

          7  return that's prepared by the paid preparer.

          8                 MS. KASSAPIAN: I don't see how they

          9  would have to go after the consumer for the

         10  difference. I'm missing it.

         11                 MR. EILER: It seems to me in terms of

         12  the incentives, it certainly would be in the

         13  preparers incentive to be accurate to the extent of

         14  covering a loan that is advanced all the fees and

         15  costs. Because they would then -- if they make a

         16  miscalculation, then they have to try to recover the

         17  money from the consumer and that may be harder to

         18  do.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: Right.

         20                 MR. EILER: So that the incentive...

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: Is there then not

         22  an incentive to underestimate the amount of the

         23  refund?

         24                 MR. EILER: Well, that may -- they

         25  want to be sure that you take only -- in other
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          2  words, they may not take any kind of questionable or

          3  leading edge or whatever, deductions. In other

          4  words, the consumer may not fully get all the

          5  possibilities if you are going to make sure that the

          6  refund will be there. You won't go for stuff that

          7  may be questionable.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: Okay. Thank you.

          9  I think this kind of a legislation is extremely

         10  necessary. We are not saying people shouldn't taken

         11  any of these refund anticipation loans. What we are

         12  simply saying that the preparers have a

         13  responsibility to fully disclose the terms so that

         14  consumers can make an educated decision.

         15                 CHAIRMAN REED: Thank you, Council

         16  Member Liu. Council Member Barron and then Sanders

         17  and then Addabbo and then Reyna. Council Member

         18  Barron.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: Thank you, Mr.

         20  Chairman. And I want to- man, what a rip off. I want

         21  to commend Council Member Diana Reyna, for bringing

         22  this legislation forward. I think it is to be highly

         23  commended. Too many of us consumers are probably not

         24  even aware of this. But I want to ask you a couple

         25  of questions because it is a little confusing. My
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          2  colleagues, I think, were asking some excellent

          3  questions. Just to get a little clearer. I want to

          4  see how it works. I know in the predatory lending

          5  bill that we put forth, there was always this

          6  juggling back and forth between the banking

          7  community and household finance or whoever the

          8  financial institution is on the front side. Is there

          9  any play of that here or this is straight up with

         10  the bank?

         11                 MS. KASSAPIAN: Well, we have -- I

         12  think the answer is yes. But our jurisdiction is

         13  with regard to the income tax preparers and that's

         14  where we have focused most of our attention.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: What could you

         16  say about the banking institution and the financial

         17  institution that might receive money from the

         18  bankers to engage in this kind of practice?

         19                 MS. KASSAPIAN: Well, they are

         20  obviously in bed together. They are an agent kind of

         21  relationship and they are making sure that they both

         22  get their money up front and they make, I think, a

         23  very high profit from this product. So it is in

         24  their interest to steer consumers to this high

         25  interest, high cost product as opposed to the more
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          2  economical way that consumers could get their money

          3  in two weeks, for example. Not immediately. A lot of

          4  people like things immediately. So, advertisers know

          5  that and they prey on that. But it's obviously a

          6  self- interest to promote this product.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: And what about

          8   -- you mentioned something about the less expensive

          9  non- loan products.

         10                 MS. KASSAPIAN: Right. There were

         11  various  --

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: Could you talk

         13  a little bit about...

         14                 MS. KASSAPIAN:  -- Non- loan products

         15  and again almost all professionals tax preparers

         16  electronically file the return to the Internal

         17  Revenue Service. But you can get it back, if you

         18  have a checking account. Not everyone does. But most

         19  people do. If you have your own checking account,

         20  you can opt for a direct deposit where the IRS

         21  electronically shoots that money within two weeks

         22  into your own account. You can also if you want to

         23  receive it by mail. Some people like to see that

         24  check, endorse it, and deposit it by themselves. You

         25  can have the IRS mail it back to you and it's still
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          2  within three or four weeks. They also, I think the

          3  various tax preparers, have something that has

          4  various names, like the refund anticipation check,

          5  for example. Which is, you don't have your own

          6  checking account. You set up the checking account

          7  for like $25.00. And for the sole purpose of

          8  receiving it electronically from the IRS.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: So the tax

         10  preparer can help the consumer set up their own

         11  checking account for that singularly purpose?

         12                 MS. KASSAPIAN: Right. And again, that

         13  is a bank product and it's generally speaking with

         14  the same bank that they have the relationship with

         15  that does  --

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: The rip off.

         17                 MS. KASSAPIAN:  -- The RALs.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: All right.

         19  Thank you very much. I appreciate that.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Council Member

         21  Sanders.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER SANDERS: Thank you,

         23  Mr. Chair. I think that this is one of the -- well,

         24  your hearings just get better or better or worse and

         25  worse, depending on your point of view, sir. But I
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          2  think that this is really something that we need to

          3  look into.

          4                 I want to commend Council Members

          5  Reyna and Gioia, for really tackling this subject.

          6  The word fiendish quickly goes through my mind here.

          7  And as Councilman Barron pointed out, we seem to

          8  keep bumping into the usual suspects here who do

          9  things while not illegal, certainly immoral. To hit

         10  the poorest of the poor with the highest of the

         11  highest interest rate is -- well on one hand, you

         12  can say they are creative. You can really say that

         13  they have very good lawyers who have looked into

         14  every nook and cranny and have found what they can

         15  do. I want to throw up some suggestions that perhaps

         16  we can do here. Borrowing my colleague, Oliver

         17  Koppell's, position, of course we need to have some

         18  written statement inserted here in large print and

         19  bold letters stating what the charge actually is and

         20  it might be good to have what in conversely to say

         21  what a local charge might be. If they had borrowed

         22  the money direct from a local bank, how much they

         23  would pay for the same product.

         24                 The truth and lending law was

         25  mentioned and I'm wondering if this -- if we have a
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          2  city version or if we can create a city version. I

          3  suspect that that is a federal law that we are

          4  speaking about and it might be useful to have a city

          5  version or some variation of that. But all of this,

          6  of course, reflects back on the position of the

          7  poorest of our population of ignorance of banking

          8  options that we do need to help create bank accounts

          9  or banking  or checking accounts or some variation

         10  of this. I remember the banks we are speaking about,

         11  character loans and there is a law on the books now

         12  that says that banks are suppose to allow people to

         13  create an account and have very little bit of money

         14  in it. I personally know that they -- some banks,

         15  I'll be kind, have fought this tooth and nail. I've

         16  actually sent people to set up these accounts and

         17  these banks either pled ignorance or they just raise

         18  the standard and have these poor people jump over

         19  hurdles. We need to enforce that. Because if that

         20  were i n enforce and these banks created checking

         21  accounts for people, then these people would have a

         22  place that the IRS could send the money to. So, we

         23  need to really -- Mr. Chair, we need to really think

         24  of ways and Consumer Affairs, of course, ways that

         25  we can help educate the population to stay away from
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          2  sharks of one type or another. Just because they are

          3  not wearing fins, do not mean that they aren't

          4  sharks. Thank you very much, Mr. Chair.

          5                 CHAIRMAN REED: Thank you, Council

          6  Member Sanders. Council Member Addabbo.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: Thank you,

          8  Mr. Chair. Thank you very much for your time and

          9  testimony today. I'm trying to get a clear picture

         10  of the magnitude of this issue or the seriousness of

         11  this issue. To those who practice -- those companies

         12  who practice in the RALs, do you see that they

         13  target certain people? Whether it be by ethnic

         14  background or possibly loan income class?

         15                 MS. KASSAPIAN: We don't have any

         16  information on that.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: Nothing like

         18  that? Do you know if we can quantify some of these

         19  numbers possibly how many companies offer this

         20  service? What banks, number of companies, number of

         21  banks, possibly total number of money or total

         22  number of cost per year that are  --

         23                 MS. KASSAPIAN: I think the IRS  --

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO:  -- Taken

         25  from these individuals?
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          2                 MS. KASSAPIAN:  -- Has alot of that

          3  information. Also, a year ago, I think the consumer

          4   -- one of the major consumer groups did an

          5  analysis. But generally speaking, most  professional

          6  tax preparers offer these loans. And there are

          7  several major banks that are involved in these loans

          8  and I think hundreds of thousands of people take out

          9  RALs.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: See, I don't

         11  think..

         12                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Joe, excuse me. Are

         13  you saying in the City hundreds of thousands of

         14  people? In the City?

         15                 MS. KASSAPIAN: I believe so.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Okay. Thank you.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: I think these

         18  numbers are helpful to understand the magnitude of

         19  this issue. I think we all know today how serious it

         20  is. But to put either a face with this issue or a

         21  group of people who are being victimized, I believe

         22  that is important as well.

         23                 MS. KASSAPIAN: Right. Just to give

         24  you one sort of number that I do know, if I can find

         25  it, in terms of how many consumers are getting
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          2  restitution. Sixty- one thousand seven hundred

          3  consumers are getting restitution for two tax years.

          4  Those are only reflective of the taxpayers who were

          5  EITC eligible. And I don't think most consumers are.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Just a minute.

          7  Could you put that in a context of getting

          8  restitution from what? Just so we are clear of what

          9  we are talking about.

         10                 MS. KASSAPIAN: From the settlement.

         11  From the recent lawsuit that was settled by the

         12  Department of Consumer Affairs.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON REED: With?

         14                 MS. KASSAPIAN: With H&R Block. And

         15  that's just one tax preparer.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Because what was

         17  the settlement -- what was the complaint?

         18                 MS. KASSAPIAN: It wasn't based on a

         19  complaint. It was based on our actively doing an

         20  investigation over a two- year period and seeing

         21  that consumers were being steered in a misleading

         22  way to this product. So part of the settlement was

         23  to give restitution. But we didn't cover every

         24  consumer that  had a RAL done. We only focused on

         25  the most vulnerable consumers who presumably if they
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          2  understood that they were losing hundreds of dollars

          3  including dollars that were their EITC dollars, they

          4  wouldn't have chosen such a high cost product.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: So the one

          6  suit that we know of -- the one settlement with the

          7  one company, 61,000 individuals were involved.

          8                 MS. KASSAPIAN: That was over two tax

          9  years.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: It was over

         11  two tax years. Think of how many companies actually

         12  offer this service and how many of those individuals

         13  may be involved? That's a large number. Wouldn't you

         14  say?

         15                 MS. KASSAPIAN: Yes.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: Thank you

         17  very much.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Thank you Council

         19  Member Addabbo. Council Member Reyna.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: Thank you, Mr.

         21  Chair. I just wanted to thank the committee for

         22  showing your commitment and support to this bill --

         23  this legislation. And I wanted to thank our

         24  Commissioner on her department for making sure that

         25  this is something they complemented in further.
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          2                 I wanted to lastly thank, Janet

          3  Torres, for making sure that she came through as far

          4  as all the reports and compiling all the information

          5  we needed. She did a tremendous job. Thank you,

          6  Janet. I wanted to just ask if you know by any

          7  chance the number in dollars that we have lost due

          8  to this predatory lending practice?

          9                 MS. KASSAPIAN: I don't have a

         10  calculation. And when you say, we have lost, you

         11  mean consumers?

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: Consumers.

         13                 MS. KASSAPIAN: Yeah, I don't have a

         14  calculation.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: This is the

         16  study that was conducted February of 2003, and there

         17  is a line here on $1.75 billion dollars in EITC

         18  refunds in '99 was diverted toward paying for tax

         19  preparation electronic filing and high cost refund

         20  loans.

         21                 MS. KASSAPIAN: Was that nationally or

         22  by New York State or New York City?

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: This is

         24  nationally. Nationally. So we're losing $1.75

         25  billion dollars and that's for the working poor who
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          2  are suppose to be receiving money to help them out

          3  at the end of their year. It is incredible to me to

          4  even highlight that number and it's embarrassing to

          5  think that nationally we haven't been able to

          6  address this.

          7                 Locally, I think we have a

          8  responsibility and we are starting to really

          9  recognize that. I would like to go back to Council

         10  Member Addabbo's comment as far as receiving

         11  information as to who in particular has gone into

         12  this type of practice. Who are the list of banks?

         13  Because these banks have a responsibility to not

         14  participate. So that our work and poor New Yorkers

         15  are able to receive and spend accordingly and make

         16  educated decisions based on the fact that if they

         17  can get another $200.00 instead of less -- $200.00

         18  less, then it's going to benefit their family. Not a

         19  bank, not a tax preparer. And just one last example.

         20  Here this is a single parent with one child. A

         21  weekly earning of $193.00, totalling a salary of

         22  $10,000.00 per year. She's eligible for an earned

         23  income tax credit for $3,035.00 of which she's only

         24  notified what she's going to receive after a RAL.

         25  And it's not disclosed that she's going to be paying
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          2  an estimated amount of $282.00. That means that's

          3  $282.00 less she will be spending on herself and her

          4  child. For food, clothing, educational expenses. And

          5  it is shameful that we can not -- we could not have

          6  addressed this prior to all these years.

          7                 So I wanted to just share that with

          8  the committee so that they can see the importance

          9  and how you are going to contribute to some many

         10  households in New York City.

         11                 MR. EILER: Well, that's partly the

         12  reason that we suggested this strengthening

         13  amendments to the legislation is that one of the

         14  critical pieces here is the distinction between a

         15  RAL and a non- RAL product, so that the consumer

         16  understands the choice that he has and how he can

         17  pursue those alternatives. And that's the critical

         18  first step disclosure that we're talking about.

         19  Because if the consumer does not know going in what

         20  the landscape looks like, it's easy for the consumer

         21  to be steered in a direction that's different than

         22  where he might have gone had he known the whole

         23  ballpark. And that's the reason that we proposed --

         24  that's the strength and amendments that we have

         25  included.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: Mr. Chair, it

          3  was not mentioned that this will be, part of the

          4  legislation is for the consumer to receive this

          5  information in their language. Is that correct?

          6                 MR. EILER: As I understand it, it

          7  says that it is in a language the consumer can

          8  understand. Presumably that would be the language in

          9  which the transaction of the person -- the

         10  discussion occurred in.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Thank you, Council

         12  Member Reyna. I wish that you had -- I appreciated

         13  that you brought an example. I wish the

         14  Administration had given us some firmer examples. I

         15  think we're on the same page. Although, I did like

         16  the use of the term predatory, Council Member Reyna.

         17  I have been thinking that all afternoon. But the

         18  Administration doesn't support us on the other

         19  predatory lending. So I was trying to remain

         20  neutral. But they are on this predatory, but they

         21  are not on the other predatory. So maybe batting 500

         22  is not too bad. We are right on both counts. We are

         23  batting 1,000.

         24                 Are there any other questions of the

         25  Administration? Thank you very much.
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          2                 I would like to ask Steven

          3  Christiansen to come forward. We've now vilified H&R

          4  Block. And I think it's only fair that we give them

          5  an opportunity to testify and respond, perhaps, to

          6  some of the comments that have been made. And I

          7  appreciate your being here today. Have a seat and

          8  make yourself comfortable. When he's finished

          9  handing that out, we'll begin. Thank you for your

         10  patience. Mr. Christiansen, please identify yourself

         11  for the record.

         12                 MR. CHRISTIANSEN. Steve Christiansen.

         13  Corporate Counsel, Vice President with H&R Block Tax

         14  Services.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Do you have a

         16  prepared comment?

         17                 MR. CHRISTIANSEN: Yes, I do. Thank

         18  you, Mr. Chairman, and committee members. H&R Block

         19  supports requiring tax return preparers to provide

         20  adequate pre- sale disclosure of the cost involved

         21  with refund loans.

         22                 And, most importantly, providing a

         23  disclosure of the non- loan less expensive

         24  electronically filing options available as a means

         25  for consumers to receive their loans quickly. H&R
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          2  Block recently engaged a firm to conduct a survey of

          3  about 50 competitor tax offices in New York City and

          4  found from that survey that indeed better

          5  disclosures are needed by tax return preparers.

          6                 That survey found that 75 percent of

          7  the offices failed to have available the required

          8  Consumer Bill of Rights regarding tax return

          9  preparers. Thirty-five percent of the offices failed

         10  to post the required price information signs. Only

         11  about 50 percent of the offices had refund loan

         12  signs which were compliment with City regulations

         13  requiring identifying refund loans as loans.

         14  Identifying the name of the lending bank and stating

         15  that additional fees are required for refund loans.

         16  And in in- office inquiries made by the private

         17  investigators, asking the question, how fast can I

         18  get my refund? No response has provided information

         19  about anything other than refund loans. Non-loan,

         20  electronic filing options were never mentioned. And

         21  only about half of the responses mentioned that the

         22  one or two day service was, in fact, a loan.

         23                 H&R Block believes that the real

         24  problem is that consumers are not advised during in-

         25  office visits of less costly non- loan electronic
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          2  filing options which include IRS check, which is

          3  mailed. By this service, a taxpayer can receive a

          4  refund in approximate four weeks. Tax preparation

          5  fees, of course, be paid up front. There are not

          6  bank fees and usually there are no electronic filing

          7  fees.

          8                 Another non-loan service is IRS

          9  direct deposit into the consumer's bank account. And

         10  that service, the refund will be received in the

         11  account in approximately two weeks.

         12                 Again, tax preparation fees are paid

         13  up front and there are no bank fees and usually

         14  there are no electronic filing fees. And with the

         15  refund anticipation check that, Ms. Kassapian

         16  mentioned, that is a bank product by which a

         17  consumer receives a check for his or her refund

         18  amount less fees including a bank fee in eight to 14

         19  days. And this is a special account that is set up

         20  at the bank. It's not a lending bank. It's a

         21  depository account. It's not a checking account,

         22  it's a depository account. And there is a bank fee

         23  of -- well, in the case of H&R Block of $24.95 for

         24  this service. The customer's return is

         25  electronically filed for a electronic filing fee of
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          2  $37.00 at H&R Block offices. So you have a total fee

          3  of about $54.00 for this service. The convenience of

          4  the service...

          5                 CHAIRPERSON REED: I'm sorry.

          6                 MR. CHRISTIANSEN: Yes, okay.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON REED: The first $24.00,

          8  $24 ninety something, who is...

          9                 MR. CHRISTIANSEN: This is called --

         10  this is the refund anticipation check service which

         11  is a non- loan. But it is a bank product.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON REED: But who gets the

         13  $24.00?

         14                 MR. CHRISTIANSEN: The bank. For

         15  setting up this special account.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Okay. And then H&R

         17  charges the $30 something?

         18                 MR. CHRISTIANSEN: For electronic

         19  filing only.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Okay. Thank you.

         21                 MR. CHRISTIANSEN: And the convenience

         22  is, is that the taxpayer does get the refund in

         23  approximately eight to 14 days and the other

         24  convenience is, is that no fees have to be paid up

         25  front. In other words, the taxpayer leaves the
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          2  office and everything's done.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON REED: He doesn't have to

          4  pay the preparation fee?

          5                 MR. CHRISTIANSEN: He doesn't have to

          6  pay any fees up front. All the fees are taken out of

          7  the refund amount when it hits the account. In so

          8  what the client gets as a net refund -- a refund

          9  less fees. A net refund being  --.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON REED: In the eight to 14

         11  days, you get the refund less the fees?

         12                 MR. CHRISTIANSEN: Less the bank fee

         13  and less the  --

         14                 CHAIRPERSON REED: The estimated

         15  refund.

         16                 MR. CHRISTIANSEN: Well, that would be

         17  the refund that hits the account.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Right.

         19                 MR. CHRISTIANSEN: Unless there is

         20  some problem with the return in which case the IRS

         21  would find that out later on. The problems that we

         22  see with Introduction 383 are several problems. One,

         23  it would require the tax return preparer to provide

         24  the customer with actual refund loan interest rates

         25  and other information before providing any tax
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          2  preparation services. Which is impossible to do

          3  until after the return is prepared. I think that Ms.

          4  Kassapian appointed that out also. It would also

          5  require that the tax return preparer describe a

          6  refund loan as a tax refund. If you see bullet

          7  number four in the introduction itself, when in fact

          8  it is a loan.

          9                 So you would be requiring that we do

         10  something that is deemed to be deceptive in of

         11  itself. That is confusing loans with refunds.

         12  Thirdly, it would require a cumbersome description

         13  of time periods for non- loan electronic filing

         14  options.

         15                 The preparer must state that a refund

         16  for a non- loan electronic filing option would be

         17  received two days from a date in the future which is

         18  never certain.

         19                 In fact, the preparer could only

         20  advise the client of the approximate time a refund

         21  will be received from the date of electronic filing.

         22  And that is exactly what we do. All of you have by

         23  now, a letter from Bob Weinberger (phonetic) and

         24  attached to that letter is a document that is

         25  entitled "Electronic Filing  --.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Did you say we have

          3  copies of this?

          4                 MR. CHRISTIANSEN: Yes, you should

          5  have a copy of a letter. It is about a ten- page

          6  letter from Robert Weinberger of H&R Block. And

          7  attached to that letter is a per- sale consumer

          8  information that we give -- in fact, we give it to

          9  every client that comes into the office which is

         10  called Electronic Product Filing Information for

         11  2003. And it describes first the -- did you find it?

         12  Okay, good.

         13                 It's entitled Electronic Product --

         14  Electronic Filing Product Information. Okay. And

         15  you'll see that it describes the non- loan

         16  electronic filing products first and the time

         17  periods that the customer could expect a refund and

         18  the extra costs that might be involved. And then it

         19  goes on to explain the two different refund loan

         20  products that are available.

         21                 Lastly -- finally on 383, and you'll

         22  see from that is that the way for instance that a

         23  direct deposit is described, it says it will be

         24  deposited into your bank account in approximately

         25  two to three weeks. And that would be the time from
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          2  the preparation of return. Rather than saying, you

          3  know, trying to pick a date in the future which is

          4  uncertain and add two days to that would be really

          5  impossible to do.

          6                 And the other thing about 383, would

          7  that I believe is some impossible requirement for

          8  the disclosure to be provided in the language of the

          9  consumer understands necessarily. We get clients who

         10  may come in and perhaps they're only language that

         11  they can really converse well with is, maybe it is

         12  Polish or something like that. And they may have an

         13  interpretator with them. And it would be impossible

         14  for us -- how many languages there are in the world

         15  or that is popular in New York City, but it would be

         16  impossible for us to provide literally hundreds of

         17  versions of disclosures in different languages. We

         18  aren't opposed to perhaps requiring that, I would

         19  imagine, that Spanish is probably the number one

         20  minority language that is spoken in most large

         21  communities and that wouldn't be a problem.

         22                 In fact, we provide our disclosures

         23  in English and in Spanish. Problems with 391 that we

         24  see is that it would require an estimate of tax

         25  preparation fees that in effect would require two
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          2  tax preparation interviews. The fees cannot be

          3  estimated in many cases without in putting client

          4  data into the tax preparers tax preparation

          5  computer.

          6                 And, I might note, that the City

          7  regulations already require the tax preparers post

          8  their base fees in tax preparation offices. It's

          9  unclear as far as what it is meant by verbally

         10  directly the consumer to review the Consumer Bill of

         11  Rights. And if it means orally directly them to do

         12  that, I would suggest that could present somewhat of

         13  an enforcement problem.

         14                 Because how are you going to be able

         15  to monitor in all cases where someone has been given

         16  oral advice. The important disclosure issues we

         17  believe involve bank fees for refund loans, interest

         18  rates, or APR's, additional preparer fees when

         19  refund loans are elected, and the disclosure of non-

         20  loan, less expensive electronic filing option --

         21  refund options.

         22                 Therefore, we have proposed to your

         23  legislative counsel and the Department of Consumer

         24  Affairs a version of 391 that requires that the

         25  Consumer Bill of Rights be given to consumers prior
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          2  to the rendering of tax preparation services. That

          3  the tax return preparer must describe at the time

          4  non- loan electronic filing -- at that time, non-

          5  loan electronic filing options including their cost

          6  and time periods in which refunds may be expected.

          7  And that the tax return preparer must provide a list

          8  of examples of refund loan options that include the

          9  range of loans, the range of bank fees, the time

         10  periods for the receipt  of loans, the range of

         11  interest rates for various amounts of loans and

         12  examples of typical refund loan transactions. And if

         13  you would look at the other disclosure in Bob

         14  Weinberger's letter -- I gave Chairman Reed a copy

         15  of it. But it's this disclosure here which does

         16  exactly that. And this is one that we give to every

         17  refund -- well, we give to every customer in their

         18  set up. Regardless of whether they're getting a

         19  refund loan or not. But, every customer who gets a

         20  refund anticipation loan before they enter into a

         21  loan transaction, they sign this particular

         22  document. It does all of those things. It gives a

         23  chart of what the various range of loan amounts

         24  would be, the various bank fees, hypothetical APR's,

         25  and for the different loan amounts which are all the
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          2  way from $200.00 to $5,000.00.

          3                 And you note to that it focuses on

          4  two examples of a typical RAL transaction where you

          5  can see clearly just what sort of fees -- extra fees

          6  we're doing with, with refund loans. I mean if you

          7  look at that, a typical refund loan is in fact

          8  $1,500.00. I will say this, is that alot of times in

          9  the consumer group literature when they are talking

         10  about the cost of these refund loans, they include

         11  in that cost the tax preparation fee. And we've seen

         12  that time and time again. But you must understand

         13  that fee is not -- does not change because a person

         14  gets a RAL. It doesn't get bigger. It's the same

         15  regardless of whether they get a loan or not.

         16                 So if they chose to have the return

         17  done by someone else, they are going to pay that

         18  fee. So in this case, and actually the minimum

         19  charge for a refund loan would be as far as a bank

         20  fee and a preparer fee, in least in our case, would

         21  be $67.00 extra. The maximum fee charged would be

         22  $141.00.

         23                 Now that does come out to an APR of

         24  approximately 300 -- well, it could come to an APR

         25  of up to 300 percent. But it wouldn't on $5,000.00.
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          2  In any case, I think what the consumer is really

          3  focused on is not the APR, but the fee. And if you

          4  were to go to your bank today and say I am getting a

          5  refund of $5,000.00, can I get a loan against it?

          6                 If they would give you that loan --

          7  we have had people literally do this, they will

          8  charge you a loan application fee of probably

          9  $100.00. But it will not be computed in the APR

         10  because loan application fees are for loan

         11  applications and they're not required to be included

         12  in the APR. Because of this type of transaction, all

         13  the APRs are high. That's true. But if you look at

         14  it as a fee, I don't know whether the fees are

         15  really all that exorbitant. And in any case, I think

         16  as long as the consumer has full disclosure, he or

         17  she can choose whether to take that loan or not or

         18  to pay that fee. And the convenience is, is they get

         19  the money.

         20                 In some cases, as soon as four or

         21  five minutes after the return is done. That is with

         22  our well advertised instant money product which

         23  literally on average when the return is sent, three

         24  minutes later a check is printing out. And the

         25  second convenience is -- and they may have bills to
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          2  pay. Maybe they are able to take advantage of some

          3  special offer where they get some dollars off on

          4  something and they're getting their money now saves

          5  them $300.00 from getting it later.

          6                 And the second convenience is that

          7  all fees are withheld from the loan amount. They

          8  don't have to pay anything up front. And, of course,

          9  if you went to the bank to get a loan on your

         10  refund, not only would you probably pay a loan

         11  application fee which would be close to what you are

         12  paying in our office for the whole service, but you

         13  would also then have to go back, have your return

         14  done anyway and have to pay your fees up front. So

         15  you would not only be paying money.

         16                 But you also be having to do two

         17  different things. One is you would have to go to the

         18  bank in addition to going to your preparer. So there

         19  is an amount of convenience that's associated with

         20  it.

         21                 These examples -- the example of the

         22  disclosure that we give here is consistent with

         23  several other state mandated disclosures for refund

         24  loans including in Illinois, in North Carolina. We

         25  would welcome the opportunity to work with your
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          2  staff on fashioning the legislation to a form that's

          3  workable for tax return preparers and the consumers.

          4  And I thank you very much for allowing me to

          5  testify.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Thank you very

          7  much. I think you have given us a lot of information

          8  to digest. But would it be fair to say then that H&R

          9  Block, if we were to be able to accept some of these

         10  recommendations, is prepared to support this

         11  legislation?

         12                 MR. CHRISTIANSEN: If you did take the

         13  suggest, we would. We are in favor of making

         14  disclosures that I have outlined in this testimony.

         15  Absolutely. And we do do it, in fact.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON REED: What prompted you

         17  to -- or prompted H&R Block to conduct a survey of

         18  about 50 competitor tax offices in New York?

         19                 MR. CHRISTIANSEN: Well, we are

         20  interested in having a level playing field. It's no

         21  secret that we are required to do certain things

         22  that we are doing under an agreement that we've

         23  reached with the Department of Consumer Affairs.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON REED: And when was that

         25  agreement reached? I don't really remember the date
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          2  or the timing. Last year, this year?

          3                 MR. CHRISTIANSEN: Last April, I

          4  believe it was. It might have been a little bit --

          5  December. Thank you.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Thank you. December

          7  of 2002? Thank you.

          8                 MR. CHRISTIANSEN: That's right. But,

          9  I will also add this. Is that we not only  make

         10  these kind of disclosures in New York City, but we

         11  do them in other areas as well.

         12                 Well, included with Mr. Weinberger's

         13  letter are other materials that are from -- are

         14  materials that we give in H&R Block offices. And we

         15  do advise people of the high cost of refund loans

         16  and are very interested in ensuring that the

         17  consumers have an informed choice. That is the

         18  official -- official management position.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON REED: I think most people

         20  when they think of tax preparation, because of your

         21  reputation and the amount of money you spend on

         22  advertising, whether they use your services or not,

         23  that's the first company they think of. All taxes

         24  got to go see H&R Block. What percentage of the

         25  market in New York do you estimate that you have for
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          2  tax preparation?

          3                 MR. CHRISTIANSEN: I really don't know

          4  the answer to that question. I really don't.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON REED: About how many

          6  people come through H&R Block in the City every

          7  year?

          8                 MR. CHRISTIANSEN: Several hundred

          9  thousand.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Two hundred

         11  thousand, four hundred thousand, six hundred

         12  thousand?

         13                 MR. CHRISTIANSEN: Yes. I think about

         14  258 thousand tax returns according to Mr.

         15  Weinberger's letter.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON REED: And H&R Block does

         17  other business besides tax preparation?

         18                 MR. CHRISTIANSEN: H&R Block

         19  affiliates do, yes, that's correct.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Would you tell us

         21  what else they do?

         22                 MR. CHRISTIANSEN: We have H&R Block

         23  financial advisors which perform brokerage services

         24  and we have H&R Block mortgage company which gives

         25  both prime and subprime -- well, prime and subprime
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          2  lending.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON REED: And do you offer

          4  any of those services to people while they may have

          5  come in because everybody knows that you do the

          6  taxes. If people are there during that -- or these

          7  other services offered to people?

          8                 MR. CHRISTIANSEN: In some offices,

          9  yes. We have offices that are called H&R Block

         10  financial centers where it's a full service office

         11  that would offer tax preparation, mortgage lending,

         12  and financial brokerage services.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Are the tax  --.

         14                 MR. CHRISTIANSEN: And we do offer --

         15  in all of our offices, we do offer the availability

         16  of establishing an IRA which would be through H&R

         17  Block financial advisors of an amount and the

         18  minimum amount, I believe, is $500.00. But at least

         19  it gets a lot of people started.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON REED: So you have some

         21  that are sorta of temporary or seasonal tax

         22  preparation offices and then you have the year

         23  around H&R financial service office?

         24                 MR. CHRISTIANSEN: Well, we have --

         25  the H&R Block financial center offices would be --
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          2  all of those would be year around. And our other tax

          3  preparation offices, some are temporary and some are

          4  year around. In any particular district as well call

          5  them in New York City, probably has six or seven

          6  districts that will always be least one time full-

          7  time year around office.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON REED: And what percentage

          9  of your business is in the tax preparation area?

         10                 MR. CHRISTIANSEN: Well, depending on

         11  how you look at with revenues or  --

         12                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Revenue.

         13                 MR. CHRISTIANSEN:  -- Probably --

         14  little over half.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Counsel, I have a

         16  few other questions. But I know Council Member

         17  Sanders and Council Member Koppell have questions.

         18  Council Member Sanders.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER SANDERS: Thank you,

         20  Mr. Chair. Well, first let me start by commending

         21  H&R Block. The idea of being pro- active in a

         22  previous fight that the Chair has laid over

         23  predatory lending. One of the problems that we found

         24  was that the banks -- well, I'll be kind. They were

         25  less than forthcoming in trying to grapple with the
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          2  issue. So, I think that pro- active dealing that no

          3  matter what leads you to the insights that we need

          4  to be pro- active, now that you are there, it is a

          5  wise move to do so. I believe that the points that

          6  you have made, many of them are very valid. And I

          7  know that our Chair, we on the inside accuse him of

          8  being too willing to work with people. But he stands

          9  convicted, I'm sure. Let me question you a little

         10  bit about checking accounts. There is a checking

         11  account that is established for a fee -- and I'm --

         12  $25.00 has to be put into it, if my memory serves me

         13  correct. Is that a permanent account in the sense

         14  that can that be maintained after this transaction

         15  is completed?

         16                 MR. CHRISTIANSEN: No. In the first

         17  place, if you look again on the chart, it is a

         18  $24.95. Of the bank fee is a deposit account fee. It

         19  is not a checking account.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER SANDERS: I see.

         21                 MR. CHRISTIANSEN: The customer

         22  doesn't have an opportunity to go write a check on

         23  that account. It's established for the customer at

         24  the bank solely for the purpose of receiving the

         25  refund from the IRS and from which disbursements are

                                                            65

          1  COMMITTEE ON CONSUMER AFFAIRS

          2  made to pay the tax preparation and bank fees.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON REED: If I can interpret.

          4  You're talking about on this form?

          5                 MR. CHRISTIANSEN: Yes.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Where does it --

          7  I'm lost.

          8                 MR. CHRISTIANSEN: Right below the

          9  chart, there is an asterisk. It's in bold type.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Oh, okay. I'm

         11  looking at the chart for the $20 -- okay, thank you.

         12                 MR. CHRISTIANSEN: Yeah. It explains

         13   -- okay.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Council Member

         15  Sanders question. I'm sorry.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER SANDERS: Thank you,

         17  Mr. Chair. Now I have a question. Can this account

         18  of $24.95 be established at that price with any

         19  other banks that are out there? Preferably local, of

         20  course?

         21                 MR. CHRISTIANSEN: I really don't

         22  know.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER SANDERS: It seems to

         24  me that if this were possible -- if this were

         25  possible, this might kill two birds at one stone or
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          2  allow more growth. If people could set up a checking

          3  account or some variation of this that could

          4  continue after the process and coming in at a price

          5  that they can afford, this certainly would get you

          6  guys out of the glare of public scrutiny on this

          7  level. It might even do a public service in the

          8  sense that people need to establish accounts and it

          9  helps with their credit, it helps with a billion

         10  different things.

         11                 MR. CHRISTIANSEN: I agree. I

         12  sometimes wonder why -- I was talking to an attorney

         13  the other day who he might be called a plaintiff's

         14  attorney and he does alot of work with predatory

         15  lending. But in any case, he was talking about how

         16  some many people just deal with money orders and

         17  don't have checking accounts. I think that well at

         18  the end of the day when you add up the cost of all

         19  the money orders, you might as well open up a

         20  checking account. But, in fact, we are -- our

         21  mortgage subsidiary Option One -- mortgage company

         22  which owns H&R Block Mortgage Company -- in any case

         23  is forming a bank and, in fact, has an application

         24  in process right now. One of our thoughts for the

         25  future as far as our strategic thinking is to do
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          2  just that. Is when clients come in who are -- don't

          3  have established banking relationships that are

          4  typically low end clients, that they would be able

          5  to establish checking accounts and establish banking

          6  relationships through H&R Block.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER SANDERS: It would be

          8   -- I think that if H&R Block did it in the spirit

          9  that we speak of, it would be a good thing. There

         10  are other institutions, community development

         11  financial institutions in other banking entities

         12  that are out there, labor, credit unions, and things

         13  of this nature which -- well, I -- I guess you are

         14  not the right ones for me to recommend that you can

         15  forward people to. But just on my -- a final point,

         16  we were questioning out loud of why people might

         17  want the instant money and some questions of perhaps

         18  people wanted to deal with a sale or some version of

         19  that. I'm sure that there are those who want to do

         20  that. But I would suggest to you that the most

         21  necessary things that people need are to pay for

         22  medical bills, rent, food, schooling, and things of

         23  this nature. Survival, if you wish. This is what is

         24  driving people to take the automatic money, I would

         25  suggest. Just as a consideration.
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          2                 MR. CHRISTIANSEN: I think you are

          3  right. And that is correct. And alot of times, if

          4  for some reason, people don't qualify for a loan,

          5  they actually complain because, well, my rent is due

          6  and I don't know what to do. And it is rather

          7  disturbing.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER SANDERS. Of course.

          9                 MR. CHRISTIANSEN: Nonetheless, if we

         10  are going to do that -- this service which in some

         11  ways we are reluctantly into, there has to be a fee

         12  charge. But that is a problem. And we hope -- I

         13  mean, actually, the IRS and their advanced

         14  computerization is so forth, we anticipate that in

         15  another three or four years, it might be able to get

         16  refunds down to where the person would get their

         17  refund by electronically filing. And not necessarily

         18  into a bank account. But they would be able to get

         19  it by mail within four or five days instead three or

         20  four weeks. So, we anticipate the need and demand

         21  for refund loans will eventually go down quite a

         22  bit. If not be eliminated and, quite frankly, we

         23  wouldn't be sad to see that day come.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER SANDERS: As I

         25  conclude, Mr. Chair, I would just encourage H&R to
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          2  be seen as a good corporate citizen. You guys can

          3  get out there and create this banking product that

          4  we were speaking about, one that allows the -- our

          5  good neighbors to get into the world of credit. And

          6  not see it so much as a money maker, but a public

          7  service. Certainly one that would not look bad in

          8  terms of public relations now. But I'm sure you

          9  wouldn't do it as such. Do it because it is just the

         10  right thing.

         11                 MR. CHRISTIANSEN: Well, I'll

         12  certainly take that message back to our CEO. I will

         13  guarantee it.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER SANDERS: Thank you

         15  kindly.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Thank you, Council

         17  Member Sanders. Council Member Koppell.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Thank you,

         19  Mr. Chairman. I was interested to hear you say that

         20  you are looking forward to the day when these loans

         21  are less prevalent.

         22                 MR. CHRISTIANSEN: Yes.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: So then I

         24  take it you don't see this as a major profit center

         25  for H&R Block?
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          2                 MR. CHRISTIANSEN: Well, it is

          3  profitable for us in the sense that if we didn't do

          4  these loans, we would lose a heck of alot of

          5  business.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: But I don't

          7  mean to say that you shouldn't make loans available

          8   --

          9                 MR. CHRISTIANSEN: Oh.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL:  -- But that

         11  you don't view the charging of the interest as being

         12  an important profit.

         13                 MR. CHRISTIANSEN: Well, we don't get

         14  any -- we don't get the interest. That all goes to

         15  the bank.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: These loans

         17  are, I take it since they are secured by a refund

         18  that goes directly from the government to the bank,

         19  they're pretty safe loans for the bank.

         20                 MR. CHRISTIANSEN: Yes, they are.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Under what

         22  circumstances could the bank not get the money?

         23                 MR. CHRISTIANSEN: They are not bullet

         24    proof, but they are fairly -- fairly safe. Well,

         25  if for some reason the refund doesn't get into the
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          2  account, and that might be because -- it won't be

          3  because of a mistake in the return. Because if the

          4  return is accepted by the IRS, they will give that

          5  refund. And then they'll come back later if they

          6  check that return and the person's  --

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Right.

          8                 MR. CHRISTIANSEN:  -- W2 doesn't

          9  match, and then that will be an issue after the

         10  fact. But, it could be that when it goes through the

         11  IRS system, they find there's child support and I

         12  think that some of the state agencies are hooked up

         13  with the IRS, there is something else owed. And it

         14  could be back taxes and that sort of thing and that

         15   -- in those cases the loan would be issued, but the

         16  bank would be out their money.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Do you know

         18  what the default rate is on these things?

         19                 MR. CHRISTIANSEN: No, I do not. I

         20  really don't.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: It strikes me

         22  that given the fact that especially today that

         23  interest rates are pretty low, even for home loans

         24  that are down around six and car loans, I don't

         25  know, they are less ten. That even though the fees
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          2  are not included, you still have APRs, if you look

          3  at your sheet in your letter or attached to your

          4  letter, the APR is for a classic RAL is 79 percent

          5  and for a instant money RAL is 105 percent. Those

          6  are pretty large, I would say, incredibly large

          7  interest rates and would suggest that these are very

          8  risky loans. Because if the loan is not very risky,

          9  the cost of money shouldn't be that great. Even a

         10  credit card loan these days is in around 19 percent

         11  at maximum. And many of the credit card companies

         12  are offering much less. Have you shopped around to

         13  see whether they are other banks besides the

         14  Imperial Capital Bank that might make these loans?

         15                 MR. CHRISTIANSEN: Well, yes. We are

         16  aware -- there is Santa Barbara Bank & Trust is

         17  another bank out in California that does these type

         18  of loans. I think there's a Bank One either does

         19  them or used to do them. There is about three or

         20  four major banks that do these type of loans.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: And you're

         22  telling me  --

         23                 MR. CHRISTIANSEN: And the fee   --

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: -- That

         25  nobody will do it for less than 79 percent?
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          2                 MR. CHRISTIANSEN: I've never -- the

          3  fees are pretty much the same. They're never any

          4  better than this.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: I don't

          6  understand that. Why in the world would they be so

          7  high?

          8                 MR. CHRISTIANSEN: Well, I really

          9  can't answer that. Except that if you're looking at

         10  the cost of establishing an account of having an

         11  systems that accommodate this particular and

         12  peculiar type of loan and the processing that's

         13  involved with in, -- really a banking person should

         14  answer it. But they are probably a wide variety of

         15  factors that  --

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: You're

         17  telling me that H&R Block has really shopped around

         18  and this is the best they can do?

         19                 MR. CHRISTIANSEN: Well, well, we --

         20  we have an agreement with Household that goes into,

         21  I think it's 2006, and as far as our ability to shop

         22  around, we are unable to do right now. But when we

         23  started in the refund loan business, actually there

         24  was an Agreement Bank and Trust that we initially

         25  did refund loans with and we did some with Mellon
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          2  Bank and we did some with Household which was

          3  formerly Beneficial National Bank. And Beneficial

          4  just came out to be the best deal for us in  --

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: When you say

          6  the best deal for you, does that mean you get  --

          7                 MR. CHRISTIANSEN: Yes.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL:  -- Some

          9  commission on this?

         10                 MR. CHRISTIANSEN: I would say the

         11  best deal for us and our consumers.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: I think --

         13

         14                 MR. CHRISTIANSEN: What we're really

         15  interested in is being competitive. We certainly

         16  don't want our loan fees to be -- the loan fees --

         17  the bank's loan fees to be higher than others.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Mr. Chairman,

         19  I would suggest if I may -- this is all very

         20  shocking to me, to tell you the truth. Maybe I

         21  should know more about it. I apologize. But if we

         22  were to enquire as to whether there are banks that

         23  would make these loans at much lower rates, I mean

         24  it seems incredible to me that there aren't banks

         25  that will lend money at less than 80 percent per
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          2  year interest. It just doesn't make sense to me that

          3  that is so. But maybe staff could look into that.

          4  Maybe we could find a homegrown New York Bank that

          5  would actually make a loan within New York's usury

          6  limits or whatever. I don't know. But the other

          7  thing I would say, I see at the bottom and  --

          8                 MR. CHRISTIANSEN: I will say this.

          9  Excuse me for interpreting you. But, it would be

         10  very interesting to me if some local tax preparation

         11  firm in the City came up with a refund loan that was

         12  at a fraction of this cost. I mean it's never

         13  happened.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Well, I'm

         15  thinking of going into the business. So  --

         16                 MR. CHRISTIANSEN: Well, if you can do

         17  it, let us know.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Well, in area

         19  that I do know something about it and I plead guilty

         20  to bringing on occasion consumer class action, Mr.

         21  Chairman, I note that they suggest at the bottom

         22  that their agreements may prohibit participation in

         23  class actions. And while I'm delighted that the

         24  Department of Consumer Affairs has gone to court, I

         25  would suggest that we look into whether we could
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          2  prohibit that kind of a clause in the loan

          3  agreement. It's interesting that he uses the word

          4   "may" and I don't know what the implications that

          5  are and we don't need to discuss that now. This is a

          6  major problem, Mr. Chairman, and I don't want to

          7  take too much time of you or the committee now, but

          8  increasingly consumer service companies including

          9  credit card companies and telephone companies and

         10  others are putting in their agreements that

         11  customers who sign up are waiving their right to

         12  bring class actions. It's something I think we

         13  should look into.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON REED: We will certainly

         15  take that as an idea if you want to work with the

         16  committee staff to frame that issue. I'd be happy to

         17  take a look at it as soon as we get through with the

         18  budget.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: I'd like to

         20  do that. I'd very much like to do that.

         21                 MR. CHRISTIANSEN: That waiver is  --

         22                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Thank you. I wanted

         23  to -- we are trying to move through the other people

         24  that are testifying. I just wanted to make one

         25  clarification in my own mind. Now on these loans
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          2  that we are speaking about, did I hear you just say

          3  that H&R Block and I guess the second question is,

          4  other tax preparers don't make a profit on the loan?

          5  In other words, we are trying to get after the

          6  problem with people ending up having these high

          7  interest loans. But it's the banks that are

          8  profiting and so H&R Block, for instance, doesn't

          9  get any of that money. Isn't that what you said?

         10                 MR. CHRISTIANSEN: Well, we used to

         11  get for each refund loan that we facilitate, we

         12  would get $9.00 licensing fee.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON REED: You would get a

         14  what?

         15                 MR. CHRISTIANSEN: We used to get a

         16  $9.00 license fee from the bank. And that's a

         17  typical arrangement with all refund loans.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Do you still get

         19  that money?                        MR. CHRISTIANSEN:

         20  No, we don't. We waived it this year. We may

         21  continue to do so in the future.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON REED: So beyond the tax

         23  preparation and the filing fee, you, at least H&R

         24  Block, doesn't make any money? Is that what you

         25  said?

                                                            78

          1  COMMITTEE ON CONSUMER AFFAIRS

          2                 MR. CHRISTIANSEN: That's correct. We

          3  don't receive anything with respect to the refund

          4  loan. Other than the tax preparation and electronic

          5  filing fee. That's correct.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Thank you. Council

          7  Member Davis, did you have a question?

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER DAVIS: Yes, I just

          9  wanted to say, you know, this is another example of

         10  this committee, Councilman Phil Reed, leadership of

         11  this Council making sure that there's quality

         12  oversight and I just wanted to echo some of the

         13  comments that were made by Council Member James

         14  Sanders and Council Member Oliver Koppell. Thank you

         15  again, Councilman Reed.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Thank you very

         17  much. Mr. Christiansen, thank you very much.

         18                 MR. CHRISTIANSEN: Thank you.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON REED: The last panel is

         20  some of the advocates in the community, Sarah

         21  Ludwig. Is that person here? I want all four of

         22  these people to come up together, please. Amy Brown.

         23  Is Ms. Brown here? Sheldon -- what is it?

         24                 MR. BARASIH: Barasih.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Barasih. And Pablo
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          2  Defilippi. Is he here? Okay. Maybe the Sergeant

          3  Arms, we could get a couple more chairs? Thanks you,

          4  James. And I wanted to comment that we also have

          5  testimony from -- Miss, what don't you let him do

          6  his business here. Just give all your stuff to the

          7   -- are you sure you don't want to condense all that

          8  information into something more manageable? Okay. We

          9  also have testimony from the Public Advocate Office

         10  in support, essentially, of both of these Intro 383

         11  and Intro 391. And she quotes much of the testimony

         12  that we've heard already, but we appreciate her

         13  support on this legislation. We're also, just in

         14  case everybody needs to know for the record, we will

         15  be having a second hearing on this bill on April 7

         16  at 10:00, which is next Monday. Hopefully, we will

         17  have an opportunity to vote on that bill at that

         18  time. But if they're people who want to testify and

         19  don't have the opportunity to today, they will have

         20  that opportunity then. Thank you.

         21                 I don't have a particular choice. So

         22  I'll let you all figure who is going to testify

         23  first. Each person will have three minutes.

         24                 CHAIR MEMBER KOPPELL: Mr. Chairman, I

         25  apologize. But I didn't realize the hearing was
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          2  going to go so long. I'm going to have to leave.

          3                 But I want to ensure the witnesses

          4  that I'm going to read their statements and would

          5  urge them if they wish to contact me directly,

          6  because this is a subject I feel very deeply about,

          7  and would appreciate your work in this area.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Please tell me who

          9  is testifying first.

         10                 MS. BROWN: I guess I'll start out. My

         11  name is Amy Brown. I work for the Community Food

         12  Resource Center and I want to thank you for giving

         13  me the opportunity to testify today. CFRC is a 23-

         14  year old non- profit organization. We do direct

         15  service and advocacy around food, hunger, nutrition,

         16  and poverty issues. And for the past three years,

         17  we've run an EITC campaign with a goal of increasing

         18  the number of New Yorkers who get the earned income

         19  tax credit.

         20                 A major component of that campaign is

         21  that we run free tax assistance center throughout

         22  the City. We have eight centers where people from

         23  the community can come and get their taxes done for

         24  free. I think that's a really important answer to

         25  alot of the problems we've been talking about today.

                                                            81

          1  COMMITTEE ON CONSUMER AFFAIRS

          2                 This year, CFRC efforts will help

          3  over 8,000 low- income New Yorkers claim an

          4  estimated 18 to 20 million dollars in tax refunds.

          5  Already this year and the tax season still has 15

          6  more days to go, I think, we've already filed overt

          7  7,000 tax returns for people. We've gotten them $17

          8  million in refunds. And saved them over $150,000.00

          9  in tax preparation fees. That's money that they

         10  earned and that they get to keep that stays in their

         11  pockets. We do electronic filing.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON REED: And that service,

         13  your ability to do that is funded by  --

         14                 MS. BROWN: By a foundations and fund

         15  raising.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON REED: The City is not

         17  giving you any help for that?

         18                 MS. BROWN: They are not. But I would

         19  actually strongly encourage that.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON REED: I'm trying to get

         21  you to get that plug in.

         22                 MS. BROWN: Thank you. I was going to

         23  plug it at the end. But I'll plug it all the way

         24  through. We do do, I should say, electronic filing.

         25  People can get direct deposit of their refunds in
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          2  ten days at no cost whatsoever. If they don't have a

          3  bank account, we have banks and credit unions on

          4  site at all of our locations that will open a no

          5  fee, no minimum balance account on the spot that

          6  people can keep after the tax season and they can

          7  get their direct deposit. And I just wanted to make

          8  one comment.

          9                 The gentleman from H&R Block said

         10  that it was difficult to estimate or impossible to

         11  estimate when people could get their refunds, as an

         12  electronic filer, we get this chart from the IRS.

         13  And it can tell me that if you file your return

         14  today, April 1, the money will be direct deposited

         15  into your bank account on April 11. And the paper

         16  check will be mailed out on April 18.

         17                 Now, there are no guarantees they

         18  might withhold something for audit. But in general,

         19  these work. This is a chart produced by the IRS and

         20  it's very specific. They work like clockwork at the

         21  IRS. I wanted to give you some examples of the

         22  problem from our own clients.

         23                 As I said, we are doing 8,000 tax

         24  returns this year. We have a trained accountants

         25  that we have trained doing these returns. It's a
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          2  very professional operation. And we've learned alot

          3  about what goes on in the tax preparation world. So

          4  I'm just going to give you three examples of clients

          5  that we saw this year.

          6                 The first client filed a tax return

          7  at Jackson Hewitt This was last year. A struggling

          8  single mother of four, her entire annual income was

          9  $4,671.00, with four children. She had one job. She

         10  had one W2. She had no other tax documents. It was a

         11  very simple tax return. It probably took no more

         12  than 15 minutes to complete this tax return. She was

         13  charged by  Jackson Hewitt, $333.00. $271.00 was for

         14  tax preparation. And $59.00 was the fee to withhold

         15  the charge from her refund because she didn't have

         16  the money to pay up front. So she paid seven percent

         17  of her annual income to have her taxes done. And

         18  again, it took no more than 15 minutes.

         19                 The second client did her taxes this

         20  year at H&R Block. And came to us. She hadn't heard

         21  yet about our program. Next year she is coming to us

         22  first. We asked her what she paid at H&R Block. And

         23  she told us $112.00. Then we asked if she had a copy

         24  of her bill, which she did. It turned out that she

         25  actually paid $189.00, $77.00 more than she thought.
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          2  And the reason was that the bill was structured with

          3  a basic fee for tax preparation that was $112.00 and

          4  then a number of other different fees and charges

          5  that you've been hearing about this morning with

          6  different names and when she had her return

          7  prepared, the only thing that was pointed out to her

          8  by the person who had done her return was the one

          9  amount. So she did not -- she was lead to believe

         10  that she was only paying a $112.00.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON REED: This was at what

         12  company?

         13                 MS. BROWN: H&R Block. And this is one

         14  person's example. The other thing about her story is

         15  that because she took out a RAL, her fees were

         16  deducted directly from her refund amount. So she

         17  never would have known how much she actually paid.

         18                 All she knew was the amount she was

         19  getting in her refund that already had all those

         20  fees deducted.

         21                 The third example actually comes from

         22  one of our own staff members. And we are trying to

         23  make sure our own staff are as educated as we want

         24  the public at large to be. He had his taxes prepared

         25  by a paid preparer who wasn't part of a national

                                                            85

          1  COMMITTEE ON CONSUMER AFFAIRS

          2  firm. Just an independent paid preparer. When he

          3  finished preparing the return, he asked the preparer

          4  how soon he would get his refund because he was

          5  planning a trip in three weeks. The preparer's

          6  answer to him was that he should take out a RAL in

          7  order to make sure he got his refund on time. He

          8  paid over $100.00 for that RAL. This was a person

          9  with a bank account who could have gotten his refund

         10  directly deposited into his bank account without

         11  paying that $100.00 extra. But the preparer never

         12  informed him of that option.

         13                 So, I think these three examples

         14  really show the kinds of things that you are trying

         15  to address. Excessive fees, hidden charges, lack of

         16  disclosure of information about options.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON REED: In the first

         18  example you gave us, you said that the woman had a

         19  total income of $4,000.00?

         20                 MS. BROWN: $4,671.00.  She worked

         21  part- time. Part year.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON REED: She was working

         23  part- time. Do we know what she was doing?

         24                 MS. BROWN: I'm not sure at the

         25  moment.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON REED: But I would assume

          3   --

          4                 MS. BROWN: We do -- I mean  --

          5                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  -- She obviously

          6  had to be on some form of public assistance. She had

          7  how many kids?

          8                 MS. BROWN: She had four children. I'm

          9  sure that she was making ends meet with help from

         10  other sources. I'm not sure what those were. But

         11  there are alot of people in the City  --

         12                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Why was she -- was

         13  she obligated -- are you obligated to file a tax

         14  return for making less than $5,000.00?

         15                 MS. BROWN: If you -- low income --

         16  you are not required to file  -- there are no --

         17  there are suppose to file a tax return under certain

         18  situations. There are no penalties for not filing if

         19  you don't owe money. But the important thing is that

         20  low- income workers are actually eligible for alot

         21  of money back because of the earned income tax

         22  credit. Anything that was withheld from her

         23  paycheck, she could get back because her income was

         24  so low. So she was eligible for a nice size refund.

         25  She got a couple of thousand dollars in refund. So
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          2  it really paid for her to file. But she needed every

          3  penny of that money that she was due back. She

          4  couldn't afford to --

          5                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Wait a minute. I'm

          6  sorry. I don't mean to belabor this, because we are

          7  all -- time is running late. You're saying her gross

          8  income was $4,000.00?

          9                 MS. BROWN: Yes.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Well, how could she

         11  have paid several thousand dollars in taxes?

         12                 MS. BROWN: No, she got her refund,

         13  was a few thousand dollars because of the earned

         14  income tax credit which is a refundable tax credit

         15  for low- income workers.  You can actually get  --

         16                 CHAIRPERSON REED: I'm familiar with

         17  what it is. But you --

         18                 MS. BROWN: I'm sorry if I was

         19  unclear.

         20                 MR. BARASIH: If I may. I'm a

         21  certified public account. I might be able to answer

         22  that question. I'm a CPA, sir. I  might be able to

         23  answer that question.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON REED: First you have to

         25  identify yourself.
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          2                 MR. BARASIH: My name is Sheldon

          3  Barasih. I'm from Community Tax Aid. We do basically

          4  the same as everybody else does here. With an income

          5  of approximately $4,000.00, if that's earned income,

          6  the taxpayer could actually receive a few thousand

          7  dollars more than they actually paid in. Now if they

          8  don't file, they don't get that. So even though

          9  technically they don't have to file, they can only

         10  get the earned income credit if they do file.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON REED: And if they do

         12  file, you said, in other words, they could get back

         13  more money  --

         14                 MR. BARASIH: Much more, yes.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  -- Than they have

         16  paid in.

         17                 MR. BARASIH: Thousands of dollars.

         18  Correct.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON REED: So, therefore, it

         20  would be useful for them to file.

         21                 MR. BARASIH: It's critical, yes.

         22                 MS. BROWN: Yes. That's the reason

         23  that we do this project. That's the reason that we

         24  provide the free tax assistance. One to make sure

         25  that everyone who's eligible for the ETIC gets it.
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          2  Because there are a quarter million people in the

          3  City who don't get it who are eligible. Often

          4  because they don't think it pays for them to file a

          5  tax return or they don't know -- they don't think

          6  they are required to. So, they don't. But we also

          7  want to make sure that people keep the money that

          8  they're getting. And that woman, she couldn't afford

          9  to pay $330.00. She could have really used that

         10  money.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON REED: I understand. Thank

         12  you.

         13                 MS. BROWN: Thank you. I just wanted

         14  to make some recommendations, if I may.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Okay.

         16                 MS. BROWN: I think there are three

         17  things that really need to be done. It's a complex

         18  problem and it has a complex solution.

         19                 The first is increased regulation of

         20  paid preparers. Especially in terms of fee schedule,

         21  RALs, and disclosure and your legislation begins to

         22  address that. The only comment I would make on the

         23  legislation is that the key is to going to be

         24  enforcement. And, as you know, enforcement is always

         25   -- the devil is in the enforcement.
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          2                 The second thing is licensing and

          3  certification of tax preparers. Anybody can hang out

          4  a shingle and do taxes. You don't have to have any

          5  education, any experience, any training, nothing. If

          6  New York -- if the City could introduce licensing of

          7  paid preparers, they could require a certain

          8  background. They could require testing. They could

          9  charge fees that would cover some of the costs of

         10  enforcement of what you're trying to do. And then

         11  you could feel confident that citizens who are going

         12  to have their taxes done are getting them done

         13  correctly. And you could also then regulate anyone

         14  who gets licensed in terms with the kinds of fees

         15  they charge. And then the third answer is the free

         16  tax preparation. Our project, as I said, is going to

         17  do over 8,000 tax returns this year. At no charge to

         18  New Yorkers. And get them back almost $20 million

         19  dollars. The return on investment for the cost of us

         20  providing that service is more than 10 to 1. That

         21  seems like an investment that's worth making on a

         22  larger scale. We could do alot more returns, if

         23  there were more funding for this. And I know the

         24  City budget is tight, but a return on an investment

         25  of over 10 to 1 is pretty good. So, I think, that's
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          2  something that the City should  --

          3                 CHAIRPERSON REED: But the investment

          4  is on the part of  --

          5                 MS. BROWN: The investment would be to

          6  support free income tax preparation for the low-

          7  income New Yorkers.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON REED: But, I appreciate

          9  what you're saying. I think that's right. But

         10  there's no investment -- the City is not going to

         11  recoup any of that money unless you mean that those

         12  people will go out and spend money and pay taxes to

         13  the City.

         14                 MS. BROWN: Well, that's -- there's a

         15  billion dollars comes into the City in EITC, that

         16  money -- they don't keep that money. They spend that

         17  money locally. And so to get an extra -- if our

         18  project is bringing in $20 million dollars extra

         19  into the City, that supports the local economy. That

         20  gets spent. That build jobs and tax revenue and

         21  ultimately comes back to the City.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Okay. Thank you.

         23                 MR. DEFILIPPI: My name is Pablo

         24  Defilippi, I'm the CEO of the Lower Eastside

         25  People's Credit Union.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON REED: The Lower Eastside

          3  People's what?

          4                 MR. DEFILIPPI: Federal Credit Union.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Thank you.

          6                 MR. DEFILIPPI: We are a community

          7  based non-profit financial institution that provides

          8  a full range of affordable grade and financial

          9  services to low-income individuals. That's our

         10  focus.

         11                 We were organized in 1986, in

         12  response to the closing of the last commercial bank

         13  in our community. And our mission is to accumulate

         14  economic development of our community by providing

         15  safe and sound access to financial services.

         16                 Our involvement with the earned

         17  income tax credit study, with a study actually that

         18  come out and it has been mentioned today a few

         19  times, by the Brooklyn Institution on the

         20  Progressive Policy Institute, that talk about the

         21  way that low-income people are taken advantage of by

         22  commercial tax preparers.

         23                 So we realize that we need to do

         24  something in terms of our membership in our

         25  low-income community. So, we started an outreach
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          2  program in the Lower East Side to bring an ordnance

          3  about the EITC.

          4                 As we were doing this at the

          5  beginning of the year, we realized that by doing

          6  this, what we were doing was actually sending people

          7  to the local commercial tax preparers. Because we

          8  didn't have any volunteer income tax system program

          9  in our community.

         10                 So we decided that we needed to do

         11  that as well. So we became a vital site (sic) and

         12  we've been doing that along with the EITC program.

         13                 What we have now as a free tax

         14  preparation site, we have been able to collect

         15  economic data that not only supports the finance of

         16  these studies, but also show that people actually

         17  pay more than what the study said.  Typically, they

         18  say that most people pay seven cents per dollar that

         19  they get in refunds, but our experience is that

         20  people pay more than that.

         21                 In fact, in the package that you have

         22  there's a comparison of two individuals and they're

         23  both paying more than the seven cents per dollar of

         24  refunds.

         25                 Our recommendations actually are --
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          2  well, in support of your initiatives but we see that

          3  this goes a little bit farther than this, and we

          4  would like for the City Council to really think

          5  about consumer education, in terms of financial

          6  literacy.

          7                 I think that people need to be

          8  educated in terms of the cost of these financing

          9  alternatives and about how to really to go about in

         10  terms of budgeting. So, these loans are not that

         11  needed.

         12                 Also, we would like for the City

         13  Council to provide support to vital sites (sic). I

         14  think that this is a wonderful alternative that is

         15  really cost-effective to the City. The fact that

         16  they are vital sites all along --  in the City that

         17  actually allow people to file their returns without

         18  paying money, it's important and critical.

         19                 And third, and this is echoing a

         20  comment by Mr. Sanders, actually in terms of,

         21  somehow reaching out to the unbanked. The problem

         22  that we see is that people don't really -- because

         23  people don't have a relationship with a banking --

         24  with a financial institution, they need to go and

         25  get these rapid refund loans because they don't have
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          2  the bank account in the first place. So to us it's

          3  critical that somehow the City also supports those

          4  institutions that are providing the service.

          5                 I mean, the comment by the H&R person

          6  were not very fair in terms of people who need

          7  services. And they need them. The problem is that

          8  they are not available to them. And we make them

          9  available, at least in the Lower East Side of

         10  Manhattan. Thank you.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Thank you very

         12  much.

         13                 MS. LUDWIG: Good afternoon. Thank's

         14  for the opportunity to testify today about the

         15  disclosure laws City Council proposed to address

         16  abuses in tax preparation, in particular, refund

         17  anticipation lending.

         18                 My name is Sarah Ludwig. I represent

         19  the Neighborhood Economic Development Advocacy

         20  Project, NEDAP for short. Which is a resource center

         21  that works with groups throughout New York City. We

         22  provide legal, technical, and policy support to

         23  community groups that are organizing for economic

         24  justice in low-income neighborhoods and communities

         25  of color.
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          2                 We also bring groups together to work

          3  in coalition on financial justice matters, and for

          4  example, convene New Yorkers for Responsible

          5  Lending, which is a state-wide anti-predatory

          6  lending coalition with more than 100 members,

          7  including community development financial

          8  institutions, credit unions, affordable housing

          9  groups, seniors organization, consumer groups, et

         10  cetera, et cetera.

         11                 Our organization has conducted

         12  extensive research on lending abuses as they affect

         13  lower income New Yorkers, and we've developed a

         14  comprehensive financial justice curriculum, that

         15  community groups have used to educate their

         16  membership about the credit and banking systems and

         17  how to avoid fringe banking, as it's known, credit

         18  scams, and equity stripping through predatory

         19  lending. Even though we do engage in financial

         20  literacy and I respectfully support the comments

         21  that Pablo just gave. We think that financial

         22  literacy only takes you so far. And having educated

         23  consumers only takes you so far. That the onerous

         24  should not, in fact, be on the consumers when the

         25  entire system is set up to gauge lower income
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          2  people.

          3                 So as an initial matter, I just want

          4  to put in context how we regard RALs and other tax

          5  preparation scams. And that is that we see them as

          6  part and parcel of an entire two-tiered banking

          7  system that manifests itself particularly starkly in

          8  New York City, which as you know, the financial

          9  services capital of the country.

         10                 In the United States, it's

         11  increasingly understood that we have a separate and

         12  unequal financial services system. The first tier of

         13  our two- tier credit consists of mainstream banking

         14  institutions that tend to serve higher income and

         15  whiter consumers and communities. And the so-called

         16  second tier consists of fringe banking institutions

         17  such as check cashing outlets, payday lenders, and

         18  rapid tax refunders.

         19                 They offer inferior products at

         20  higher cost and take advantage of lower income

         21  people who are cut out of mainstream banking and

         22  who's communities are blanketed with solicitations

         23  for fast cash, instant credit, and an array of high

         24  cost financial services.

         25                 So, in response to questions asked
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          2  earlier about whether or not there are people who

          3  are targeted for RALs, we would say definitely yes.

          4  It's lower-income people and people living in

          5  neighborhoods where short-term credit is simply not

          6  available.

          7                 In that context, RALs are part of a

          8  very fast growing and extremely lucrative segment of

          9  the financial services market. And are particularly

         10  noxious when they're made to people filing for the

         11  earned income tax credit.

         12                 According to H&R Block's Annual

         13  Report to security holders from last year, H&R

         14  Block's revenues from participations in refund

         15  anticipation loans and I'm quoting from their own

         16  filing: "Increased $43.9 million dollars over the

         17  previous fiscal year. This increase is a result of

         18  both increases in the average revenue per RAL by 44

         19  percent."

         20                 In other words, H&R Block in the year

         21  2001 jacked up its RAL fees and the number of RALs

         22  increased only by three percent. Now I'm quoting

         23  again: "The increase in pricing is due to

         24  adjustments made to offset the increased risk of bad

         25  debt resulting from the IRS's heightened review of
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          2  returns containing earned income tax credits."

          3                 So, in effect, the extra cost of the

          4  scrutiny coming from the IRS to make sure that they

          5  were acquitting themselves appropriately and within

          6  the law has been passed on directly to consumers.

          7  H&R Block and other tax  --

          8                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Can I stop you for

          9  a minute?

         10                 MS. LUDWIG: Please.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Wouldn't you happen

         12  to have any information -- you say there is

         13  increased scrutiny and you made -- and your

         14  implication was specifically of EITC's.

         15                 Do you have any knowledge about the

         16  increased scrutiny generally across the board or of

         17  corporation filings or is it just the EITC's that

         18  have come under this increased scrutiny?

         19                 MS. LUDWIG: Well, this increased

         20  scrutiny --

         21                 CHAIRPERSON REED: You may not know

         22  that, but  --

         23                 MS. LUDWIG: Yeah, I have no problem

         24  saying I don't know. But the point is that this is a

         25  quote from H&R Block's SEC filings  --
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON REED: I see.

          3                 MS. LUDWIG:  -- Saying that there is

          4  increased scrutiny.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Thank you.

          6                 MS. LUDWIG: H&R Block and other tax

          7  preparers would not be able to offer RALs without

          8  major financial institutions providing the large

          9  scale capital as you've heard today.

         10                 According to our research at NEDAP,

         11  Household International dominates the RAL's market.

         12  Providing 69 percent of RALs nationwide through H&R

         13  Block and other tax preparer preparation outlets. In

         14  Household's SEC filing, in it's own 10K filing from

         15  August 2002, they disclosed that and again I quote:

         16                  "The majority of customers who use

         17  the RALs product are renters with household incomes

         18  of less than $25,000.00 who are entitled to refunds

         19  of greater than $2,000."

         20                 From Household's filing it continues,

         21   "In 2000, we originated 6.4 million accounts and

         22  generated a loan volume of $8.4 billion dollars." So

         23  we see what we're talking about here. Beyond their

         24  impact on consumers and communities which are

         25  clearly great, RALs have also raised serious
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          2  concerns for banking regulators, who see RALs as

          3  threatening to banks safety and soundness.

          4                 A question came up earlier about the

          5  risk factor and making these loans. Well, just a few

          6  weeks ago, the Office of the Comptroller of the

          7  Currency which regulates nationally chartered banks

          8  issued an interpretative ruling or letter stating

          9  that national banks that make RALs, will have to set

         10  aside $1 in reserve for every RAL dollar lent.

         11                 Suggesting a recognition that, in

         12  fact, beyond the consumer issues, there's also

         13  broader economic issues having to do with the

         14  stability of financial institutions that engage in

         15  these practices.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON REED: I have to ask you

         17  to wrap up your testimony.

         18                 MS. LUDWIG: Okay.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON REED: I've been generous

         20  with the time and I know you've been patient, but

         21  please wrap up.

         22                 MS. LUDWIG: Okay. So the proposed

         23  disclosure requirements are a very important first

         24  step in calling attention to abusive tax refund

         25  lending and we understand that the City Council's
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          2  limited jurisdiction over lending matters and wish

          3  that you could ban RALs outright because they're

          4  largely a junk product that people don't need.

          5                 But we would be remiss if we did not

          6  share our concern that disclosure requirements,

          7  alone, can be very ineffective in curbing predatory

          8  lending abuses. You're in effect telling a borrower,

          9  we're going to rip you off, now sign here. And

         10  there's no way to actually police each transaction

         11  to make sure that the disclosures are actually

         12  rendered.

         13                 So we recommend the following

         14  quickly. That the City Council should promote free

         15  tax preparation for lower income New Yorkers. There

         16  are numerous free tax clinics throughout the City

         17  and needless to say they do not offer RALs or

         18  otherwise gouge consumers. And explicitly, work with

         19  lower income people to secure their earned income

         20  tax credit.

         21                 They encourage people without bank

         22  accounts to open accounts at banks and credit unions

         23  whereby people may receive rapid refunds. But free

         24  ones. Several programs are housed at community

         25  developed credit unions where people may open
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          2  accounts, receive their tax refunds electronically

          3  within just a few days and benefit from over the

          4  long term for participation in the financial

          5  services mainstream. We think -- we agree with

          6  Community Food Resource Center. Amy's comments that

          7  the City Council should require licensing or

          8  certification process. And we also would urge you

          9  very strongly to figure out a meaningful enforcement

         10  mechanism. We are very discouraged by the settlement

         11  the DCA entered into with Household. We're planning

         12  to speak to -- with H&R Block, I'm sorry. We're

         13  planning to speak to DCA about that and would be

         14  happy to share with you our concerns because we

         15  think that actually they put consumers worse off  --

         16  in a worse place.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Let me ask you.

         18  Have you had a chance to share these recommendations

         19  with  --

         20                 MS. LUDWIG: DCA?

         21                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  -- The City

         22  Council?

         23                 MS. LUDWIG: With some members of the

         24  City Council staff, yes.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Well, we should
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          2  probably take a look at that. This bill is trying to

          3  address the immediacy of tax day coming up. While

          4  I'm sure there's some suggestions that you have,

          5  that would allow itself to legislation in the

          6  future. But perhaps we'll catch up with this before

          7  April 15 of next year.

          8                 MS. LUDWIG: That would be good. My

          9  last suggestion is that HSBC, the third largest

         10  depository bank in New York, has announced that it

         11  plans to acquire Household and its application to

         12  acquire Household are pending before state and

         13  federal regulatory agencies.

         14                 We urge the City Council to pass a

         15  resolution that calls on HSBC to eliminate

         16  Households RALs operations, if that merger is

         17  approved.

         18                 We think that that would alert HSBC

         19  to the reputational implications of continuing

         20  Household's RALs operations which simply don't

         21  benefit consumers and diminish community wealth. So

         22  we want to  --

         23                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Ms. Ludwig?

         24                 MS. LUDWIG: Yes. Thank you very much.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Thank you. It's
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          2  from your testimony and other testimony and all day

          3  long, frankly, I'm a supporter of this legislation.

          4  But it seems to me that we're trying to protect

          5  people from themselves. That there's a certain group

          6  of people out here that need to be protected from

          7  themselves.

          8                 This sort of goes back to the whole

          9  issue of predatory lending. While this may sound

         10  less than charitable, you know, there is an

         11  expression about a fool and his money. And at some

         12  point, we have -- at least I have to ask myself when

         13  does my obligation or the City's obligation stop

         14  from prohibiting somebody from making a bad

         15  investment. Making a bad judgment. Making a bad

         16  decision, or doing something in spite of what's in

         17  their best interest.

         18                 So when we talk about giving people

         19  proper knowledge of what is and what isn't, if

         20  someone is determined to do something, which

         21  frankly, when people walk in a door, they've decided

         22  they want this refund. And almost no matter what you

         23  put in front of them, they're going to walk right up

         24  there and sign up because they've got it in their

         25  mind -- they fantasize or they saw the
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          2  advertisement.

          3                 So, I don't disagree with you. And I

          4  am supportive of this. But I don't think it's always

          5  the City or the governments responsibility. One, to

          6  offer these services. I think it is certainly is our

          7  responsibility to suggest to people that they may

          8  want to read the print and understand it. But I just

          9   -- I'm hearing your testimony.

         10                 I think it is terrific. You were very

         11  helpful in the last process of predatory lending.

         12  But there does come a limit, in my mind, of when we

         13  stop being able to protect people from themselves.

         14  And I'm not so sure where the advocates and others

         15  want to draw the line.

         16                 MR. DEFILIPPI: It's about access.

         17  It's about access. We are a vital site and are only

         18  open two days a week. In our neighborhood, ten

         19  blocks around us, there are five -- five commercial

         20  tax preparers. Open seven days a week. So it's about

         21  capacity. How many people can we really serve?

         22                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Well, that's a

         23  point well taken. So that's a structure that we

         24  ought to look at. But if you were open seven days a

         25  week and there were four of you and seven of these
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          2  people or whatever we think was a proper ratio to

          3  what we could afford to do, I still think there has

          4  got to be a percentage of people  --

          5                 MR. DEFILIPPI: Yes.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  -- Who are going

          7  to go down that road. I also think you've got a

          8  certain amount of people that feel if they went into

          9  something that somehow they're more secure and I

         10  think this is part of the issue, the sign H&R Block

         11  sort of says to you, well that's a safe place to do

         12  business. It's not just that they're open all the

         13  time.

         14                 But I've heard of them. And maybe

         15  even if you got some other behavior that you don't

         16  want to have documented, you say, well's let have

         17  the City and State -- some people just don't want to

         18  have anything to do with those offices. They think

         19  they're better off going into some private office

         20  because whatever other issues they have -- people

         21  come into my office all the time. With all sort of

         22  issues. And once they feel comfortable, we start

         23  hearing of all these other problems that previously

         24  they haven't talked about the first problem because

         25  they are concerned of exposing other issues. Or
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          2  where the income came from.

          3                 So, I just -- I think your point is

          4  very well taken. If you're -- that's a point you

          5  should emphasize. If you only have funding for two

          6  days a week and in that area you've got all those

          7  sharks swimming around with the door open 24/7

          8  essentially, that's a critical piece for us to try

          9  to look at and fund the alternatives for people to

         10  make choices. But once they've made that choice, if

         11  they want to be ripped off, at some point, God bless

         12  them. That's the point I was making. But if the

         13  stakes are so -- if the tables are so unevenly set,

         14  then that's something we should be addressing.

         15                 MR. BARASIH: If I may. One of the

         16  problems and one of the things that are addressed by

         17  this bill is that people  --

         18                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Sir, could you  --

         19                 MR. BARASIH: I'm sorry again.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Thank you. Is this

         21  part of your testimony?

         22                 MR. BARASIH: It's part of my

         23  testimony.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Okay. Because I

         25  didn't mean to get caught up in that and it is
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          2  almost 3:30. So  --

          3                 MR. BARASIH: I'll address your

          4  question.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Okay.

          6                 MR. BARASIH: Part of the problem is

          7  with low- income tax credit, taxpayers can get

          8  between $2 and $4000.00 in excess of what they paid

          9  in. And it's very tempting because someone is saying

         10  to them, you can get your tax refund right now.

         11  Rather than waiting three or four weeks for the IRS

         12  to send you a check. So it's awfully tempting.

         13                 Now, if the tax preparer is going to

         14  say them, okay, you do a refund of $3,000.00. My fee

         15  is $100.00. I'll take a $100.00. I'll give you a

         16  check right now for $2,900.00. Wouldn't you do that?

         17  Well, yes you would. Most people would.

         18                 The problem with that is that it's an

         19  interest -- it's a loan at an exorbitantly high

         20  interest rate. If the refund is $3,000.00 and the

         21  fee is $100.00, that's interest.

         22                 That calculates to $100.00 for use of

         23  money for a month which calculates to $1,200.00 for

         24  the year. Which means the effective rate of that

         25  loan is 40 percent. If the money is going to come
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          2  back to the bank sooner, then the interest rate is

          3  that much higher. People who get these refunds can't

          4  calculate interest. They don't know what interest

          5  really means.

          6                 So what the purpose of this bill is

          7  to disclose to taxpayers, number one, what these

          8  interest rates are, that there are other options,

          9  that they can do filing on line. They can wait for

         10  the check. They can charge money on their credit

         11  card. Rather than taking a high interest loan, do it

         12  on your credit card. Wait for the refund to come

         13  back and then refund your credit card at a much

         14  lower interest rate. So that's why I feel that the

         15  disclosure requirements of this bill are critical.

         16  Thank you.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Well, thank you for

         18  your brevity. I think all those are -- that last one

         19  particularly, I don't think anybody else has talked

         20  about charging it to your credit card. So I think

         21  that's  --

         22                 MR. BARASIH: The credit card interest

         23  is less than 25 percent. Maybe 19 percent. We've

         24  heard interest rates of 40, 200, 600 percent.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON REED: I don't disagree
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          2  with you. That was not put forward. Let me ask you

          3  this. You might be able to help me with this. I'm

          4  not sure I understand. Now, if you file

          5  electronically, don't you still -- doesn't the IRS

          6  still have to have your signature?

          7                 MR. BARASIH: No. There is a form you

          8  can fill out authorizing the electronic filing and

          9  that will be the signature.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Well, you have to

         11  sign that, don't you?

         12                 MR. BARASIH: The preparer has to sign

         13  it and the taxpayer has to sign it. But they simply

         14  retain that document.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON REED: They don't forward

         16  that to the IRS?

         17                 MR. BARASIH: I think that -- no, that

         18  document does not have to forwarded to the IRS. It's

         19  all done on line.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON REED: So the IRS, if I

         21  will refund some money to somebody  --

         22                 MR. BARASIH: The preparer -- Correct.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  -- Without --

         24  other than them putting down their --

         25                 MR. BARASIH: The preparer is making
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          2  the representation.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Let me finish the

          4  question.

          5                 MR. BARASIH: Okay.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON REED: If I go on line

          7  which is what's been advertised that I can file

          8  directly, and so I file electronically, -- I'm

          9  telling myself to stop, how do you like that? I'm

         10  going to get my refund without my having to send a

         11  signature off to the IRS?

         12                 MR. DEFILIPPI: It's two different

         13  issues.

         14                 MR. BARASIH: That's correct.

         15                 MR. DEFILIPPI: If you file on line,

         16  you have to get a pin number and you get your pin

         17  number on line as well. You need to use your

         18  previous year gross income and that will allow you

         19  to get your pin number. In that case, there is no

         20  need to submit a signature to the IRS.

         21                 Now, if you do it through the vital

         22  site is different. We are going to keep a record of

         23  your signature.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON REED: I'm sorry. -- If

         25  you --
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          2                 MR. DEFILIPPI: If you come to our

          3  vital site to do your taxes through us, then we're

          4  going to keep a record of your signature. We're not

          5  going to submit it, but we're going to keep it on

          6  site.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON REED: And you're -- you

          8  would -- you submit it electronically?

          9                 MR. DEFILIPPI: Yes. We file it.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON REED: So, you would keep

         11  my signature on file?

         12                 MR. DEFILIPPI: Yes.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON REED: I see. Okay. Thank

         14  you very much.

         15                 MR. DEFILIPPI: Thank you.

         16                 MR. BARASIH: Thank you.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Anyone else. Thank

         18  you very much. We will, as I said, be hearing

         19  additional testimony and voting on this on next

         20  Monday. Thank you. The hearing is adjourned.

         21                 (Hearing concluded at 3:30 p.m.)
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          1

          2              CERTIFICATION

          3

          4

          5     STATE OF NEW YORK   )

          6     COUNTY OF NEW YORK  )

          7

          8

          9                 I, LORI SANTOMIERI, do hereby certify

         10  that the foregoing is a true and accurate transcript

         11  of the within proceeding.

         12                 I further certify that I am not

         13  related to any of the parties to this action by

         14  blood or marriage, and that I am in no way

         15  interested in the outcome of this matter.

         16                 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto

         17  set my hand this 1st day of April 2003.
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                                   ---------------------

         25                          LORI SANTOMIERI
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          2             C E R T I F I C A T I O N

          3

          4

          5

          6

          7

          8

          9            I, LORI SANTOMIERI, do hereby certify the

         10  aforesaid to be a true and accurate copy of the

         11  transcription of the audio tapes of this hearing.
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         22                 -----------------------
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         23

         24

         25

